
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Strategic Planning Committee 

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Thursday 16 September 2021 

Time: 10.30 am 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Kieran Elliott, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718504 or email 
kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Howard Greenman (Chairman) 
Cllr Tony Trotman (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Adrian Foster 
Cllr Sarah Gibson 
Cllr Carole King 

Cllr Christopher Newbury 
Cllr Pip Ridout 
Cllr James Sheppard 
Cllr Elizabeth Threlfall 
Cllr Robert Yuill 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Helen Belcher 
Cllr Clare Cape 
Cllr Ruth Hopkinson 
Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr Dr Nick Murry 

 

  
 

Cllr Andrew Oliver 
Cllr Stewart Palmen 
Cllr Nic Puntis 
Cllr Bridget Wayman 
Cllr Graham Wright 

 

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for an online meeting you are consenting that you 
will be recorded presenting this, or this may be presented by an officer during the 
meeting, and will be available on the public record. The meeting may also be recorded 
by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 
details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fparking-car-parks&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=FK5U7igUosMzWIp1%2BhQp%2F2Z7Wx%2BDt9qgP62wwLMlqFE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

                                                      Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 28) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 14 
July 2021. 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. During the 
ongoing Covid-19 situation the Council is operating revised procedures  
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to submit a statement in relation to an item on 
this agenda should contact the officer named on this agenda no later than 5pm 
on 14 September 2021 
 
Statements should: 

 State whom the statement is from (including if representing another person or 
organisation); 

 State clearly whether the statement is in objection to or support of the 
application; 

 Be readable aloud in approximately three minutes (for members of the public 
and statutory consultees) and in four minutes (for parish council representatives 
– 1 per parish council). 
 
Up to three objectors and three supporters are normally allowed for each item 
on the agenda, plus statutory consultees and parish councils. 
 
Those making statements would be expected attend the meeting to read the 
statement themselves, or to provide a representative to read the statement on 
their behalf. 
 
Questions 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 



 

Page 4 

 

received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions electronically to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later 
than 5pm on 9 September 2021 in order to be guaranteed of a written response. 
 
In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than 
5pm on 13 September 2021. 
 
Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. 
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter 
is urgent. Details of any questions received will be circulated to members prior to 
the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 
Questions and answers will normally be taken as read at the meeting. 

6   19/05898/OUT: Land off Park Road, Malmesbury, SN16 0QW (Pages 29 - 72) 

 Outline application for up to 50 residential units, internal road, parking, open 
space and associated works, with all matters reserved other than access. 

7   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business, which in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency. 

 Part II  

 Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Strategic Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 14 
JULY 2021 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE BA14 8JN. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Howard Greenman (Chairman), Cllr Adrian Foster, Cllr Sarah Gibson, 
Cllr Carole King, Cllr Christopher Newbury, Cllr Pip Ridout, Cllr James Sheppard, 
Cllr Elizabeth Threlfall and Cllr Robert Yuill 
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr Stewart Palmen, Cllr Nick Botterill, Cllr Horace Prickett and Cllr Paul Sample JP 
  

 
10 Apologies 

 
Apologies were received from Councillors Ernie Clark and Tony Trotman. 
 

11 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2021 were presented for 
consideration, and it was, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve and sign the minutes as a true and correct record. 
 

12 Declarations of Interest 
 
Under the next item Councillor Robert Yuill declared that in relation to the 
Freeth Farm Quarry applications, that he had previously been Portfolio Holder 
for Waste and had some contact with The Hills Group, but none with the Hills 
Quarry Products portion of the business, and therefore no historic interest. 
 

13 Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no announcements.  
 

14 Public Participation 
 
The procedures for public participation were noted. 
 

15 Planning Appeals and Updates 
 
The planning appeals report was received and noted. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

16 Salisbury River Park Masterplan 
 
David Milton, Major Projects Spatial Planning Manager, presented a report on 
the Salisbury River Park Masterplan. The Committee was recommended to 
endorse the masterplan as a relevant material planning consideration to be 
taken into account when making decisions on planning applications on any 
proposals for the Salisbury River Park and wider integrated zone. 
 
The presentation set out details of flood zones in Salisbury and reassessment  
of flood risk by the Environment Agency, plans to improve open space and the 
environment for the River Park/Green Corridor project, the multiple stages of 
public consultation which had identified support for the proposals, and that 
amendments had been made based on those responses. It was confirmed the 
masterplan did not include the area of the Cathedral Close. 
 
Members then had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the officer. 
Details were sought of housing location in or around the River Park, the limited 
loss of car parking, and other work being undertaken by the Environment 
Agency. 
 
A local Unitary Member, Councillor Paul Sample JP, then addressed the 
Committee. He noted issues remained with the document and some residents 
had concerns relating to parking, footpaths and cyclepaths, and future 
maintenance, but supported the masterplan. 
 
The Committee then had the opportunity to debate the masterplan. On the 
motion of Councillor Howard Greenman, seconded by Councillor Pip Ridout, it 
was then, 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the masterplan for the Salisbury River Park, as attached at 
Appendix 1 of the report, together with any other minor alterations 
required to improve its clarity, is endorsed as a material planning 
consideration for the purposes of development management. 
 

17 Planning Applications 
17a 16/05464/WCM: Freeth Farm Quarry, Compton Bassett 
 
Public Participation 
Dr Peter Alberry spoke in objection to the application. 
John Brooks, on behalf of James Pendley, spoke in objection to the application. 
Charles Reis spoke in objection to the application. 
Peter Andrew, applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
Nick Dunn, agent, spoke in support of the application. 
Cllr Peter Szczesiak, Compton Bassett Parish Council, spoke in objection to the 
application. 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

Jason Day, Minerals and Waste Planning Officer, presented a report which 
recommended approval be granted through delegation for a scheme of planning 
conditions under which the site would operate.  
 
Planning Permission for mineral extraction already existed for the site, but 
development could not lawfully commence until new, modern conditions 
necessary to address environmental and other issues of mineral working at the 
site had been agreed by the Mineral Planning Authority. Key issues included the 
control of noise and protection of visual amenity at the nearest residential 
properties. A site visit took place ahead of the Committee meeting. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. Details sought included information regarding dates of minerals 
and ecology reports, dimensions of the proposed acoustic bund and the 
distance to existing properties, the level of noise monitoring, assessment of 
financial viability, and confirmation that the conveyor for materials would be 
covered. 
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as 
detailed above. 
 
As the local Member, Councillor Ashley O’Neill, was unable to be present due to 
Covid-19 self-isolation requirements, his statement was read out by Councillor 
Nick Botterill, objecting at length to the application in particular the buffer zone 
of 35m from neighbouring properties, and suggesting revisions to the conditions 
were it to be considered for approval. 
 
A debate followed. The adequacy of the proposed buffer zone was discussed, 
and impact on financial viability and residential amenity if this were increased to 
70m, along with suggestion that noise and or dust monitoring should be 
continuous. The impact of additional conditions on operation was raised, and 
the need to delegate to officers the adjustment of other conditions in the event 
continuous dust and/or noise monitoring was agreed. 
 
On the motion of Councillor Howard Greenman, seconded by Councillor Adrian 
Foster, at the conclusion of debate, it was therefore, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To accept the recommendation at paragraph 185 of the report subject to 
the addition of a condition delegated to the Head of Development 
Management requiring a 70 metre buffer from the nearby dwellings to the 
screen bund and the replacement of recommended conditions 12 and 16 
(compliance with the submitted noise and dust management plans) with 
conditions delegated to the Head of Development Management requiring 
new schemes that provide for continuous monitoring. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

17b 16/05708/WCM: Freeth Farm Quarry, Compton Bassett 
 
Public Participation 
Dr Peter Alberry had registered to speak in objection to the application. 
Peter Andrew, applicant, spoke in support of the application. 
Nick Dunn, agent, spoke in support of the application. 
Cllr Peter Szczesiak, Compton Bassett Parish Council, had registered to speak 
in objection to the application. 
 
Jason Day, Minerals and Waste Planning Officer, presented a report which 
recommended approval be granted for a quarry field conveyor to transport 
extracted soft sand to its the processing plant at Calne Quarry. The route of the 
conveyor was detailed, along with the potential environmental impacts of 
replacing vehicle movements a conveyor. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. Questions were asked on construction timescales, any impact on 
trees and the proposed conditions. 
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as 
detailed above. 
 
As the local Member, Councillor Ashley O’Neill, was unable to be present due to 
Covid-19 self-isolation requirements, his statement was read out by an officer, 
objecting to the application in particular reports of the conveyor not being 
enclosed. 
 
A debate followed. It was confirmed that the conveyor would be covered which 
address many of the objections which had been raised, and the time taken to 
transport the materials was discussed. It was noted that if approved conditions 
would need to be delegated to officers to update to take account of the decision 
on the previous application. 
 
On the motion of Councillor Howard Greenman, seconded by Councillor Pip 
Ridout, at the conclusion of debate, it was therefore, 
 
Resolved: 
 
To accept the recommendation at paragraph 83 of the report subject to 
the addition of a condition delegated to the Head of Development 
Management requiring the conveyor to be covered along its full length 
and the replacement of recommended conditions 8 and 11 (compliance 
with the submitted noise and dust management plans) with conditions 
delegated to the Head of Development Management requiring new 
schemes that provide for continuous monitoring. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

18 15/04736/OUT: Land South East of Trowbridge 
 
Public Participation 
John Cox spoke in objection to the application. 
Chris Minors, agent, spoke in support of the application. 
 
Mike Wilmott, Head of Development Management, presented a report which 
recommended that the existing resolution to grant permission approved  at a 
meeting 25 April 2018, be amended to include a revised arrangement for 
affordable housing delivery in the Section 106 agreement and  updates to the 
conditions to be attached to the grant of planning  permission. It was stated that 
the overall affordable housing element would be just over 26%, with phased 
delivery. It was noted that this was not a fresh application to that already 
approved, so the principle of the development, which was very significant in 
terms of the council’s housing land supply, had already been agreed. Details 
were provided of late representations received. 
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. Details sought included information on the phased delivery of the 
affordable housing, and that this would mean that should the developer wish to 
amend this in future, for instance to place housing on the employment land, it 
would require a fresh planning application, with the policy position starting at an 
expectation of the figure required in the development plan extant at the time 
(currently 30% affordable housing). It was also discussed what the agreement 
being signed in a timely manner would mean in practice. Details were also 
sought on references to the funding of a wildlife warden and the costs of that 
over time, which it was stated would be a matter for the developer and trust to 
secure through agreement, and on the status of the land and bats in the area. 
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to address the Committee, as 
detailed above. 
 
Councillor Stewart Palmen, a Unitary Member for Trowbridge, then spoke 
regarding the level of affordable housing. 
 
Councillor Horace Prickett, the local Unitary Member, then spoke regarding 
aspects of the application, noting parish council acceptance of the need for 
housing in the area, and matters raised by the scouts. 
 
A debate followed, which noted the significant level of affordable housing being 
delivered from the overall 2500 housing development, the scale of the s106 
legal agreement contributions sought for schools and other infrastructure and 
whether this would be deliverable, and the inclusion of a limit of 12 months for 
the agreement to be signed. 
 
On the motion of Councillor Howard Greenman, seconded by Councillor 
Elizabeth Threlfall, at the conclusion of debate it was, 
 
 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

Resolved: 
 
To amend the April 2018 decision of this Planning Committee as follows – 
 
Either -  
 
To GRANT planning permission, this subject to the main ‘legal agreement’ 
being first entered into but with a change to its affordable housing terms – 
specifically, to minimum 20% affordable housing provision in the first 500 
units; minimum 25% affordable housing provision in the next 500 units; 
and minimum 30% provision in all units thereafter; (all other terms to 
remain as in the April 2018 resolution); and subject to conditions as set 
out below (including an additional condition and informative); 
 
Or - 
to REFUSE planning permission in the event that the S106 is not now 
completed in the above terms within 12 months of the date of this 
resolution, for the reason set out below. 
 
Conditions  
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the 
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the 
reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
 
REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 No development shall commence on site until details of the following 
matters (in respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority:  
 
(a) The scale of the development; 
(b) The layout of the development; 
(c) The external appearance of the development; 
(d) The landscaping of the development; 
 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
REASON:  The application was made for outline planning permission and 
is granted to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and Article 5 (1) of the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
 

3 An application(s) for the approval of all of the reserved matters shall be 
made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of fifteen 
years from the date of this permission. 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

4 The outline element of the development hereby approved shall make 
provision for the following: 
 

(i) At least 13.6 ha of land for employment purposes (Class E 
(‘Business’ only), B2 and/or B8 uses); 

 
(ii) Two separate sites of at least 1.85 ha each and two separate 14-

class primary schools thereon, and a single serviced site of at 
least 5.24 ha for a secondary school; 

 
(iii) Two separate sites of at least 1 ha and 0.2 ha respectively for two 

separate 'local centres'; in combination the local centres to 
provide suitable premises for a mix of convenience shops and 
small other shops, community facilities, 'early learning' facilities 
and ‘food & drink' premises (Class E), 'drinking establishments' 
(Class A4) and 'hot food & takeaway' uses (Class A5);  

 
(iv) Sites for public open space to be sited, laid-out and equipped in 

accordance with the specifications set out in the West Wiltshire 
Leisure and Recreation DPD (or any subsequent replacement 
DPD); and to include at least 6.35 ha of formal sports pitches with 
pavilion / changing rooms, at least 1.2 ha of 'designation play' 
area, at least 44.4 ha of major open space or country park (to 
include an Ecological Visitors Facility), at least 14.4 ha of natural 
and semi-natural open space including structural planting, and at 
least 0.9 ha of allotments;   

 
(v) An 'Ecology Visitors Facility'; and 
 
(vi) Up to 2,500 dwellings of which no more than 315 (including within 

the 'local centre') are to be provided on the north-east side of West 
Ashton Road. 

 
The 'layout of the development' (as to be submitted and approved under 
condition no. 2) shall accommodate all of the above broadly in 
accordance with the 'Indicative Masterplan' (drawing no. A.0223_77-01 
Rev AB) dated 20/04/17 and the related parameters plans set out in the 
Design and Access Statement. 
 
REASON:  To ensure the creation of a sustainable and balanced urban 
extension, in accordance with the requirements of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy and the intentions of the Design and Access Statement 
accompanying the planning application. 
 

5 No application for reserved matters shall be submitted until there has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 

Page 11



 
 
 

 
 
 

a detailed Phasing Plan for the entire application site indicating 
geographical Phases and/or Sub Phases for the entire development.  
Where relevant these Phases or Sub Phases shall form the basis for the 
reserved matters submissions.  Each Phase or Sub Phase shall include 
within it defined areas and quantities of housing and infrastructure 
relevant to the Phase or Sub Phase.  No more than 50% of the houses (or 
no more than a meaningful percentage of the houses to be first agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority) to be built in any Phase or Sub 
Phase shall be occupied until the infrastructure relevant to the Phase or 
Sub Phase has been completed. 
  
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved Phasing Plan.  
 
REASON:  To ensure the proper phasing and delivery of the 
development, and in particular the affordable housing and essential 
infrastructure the development has made necessary, in accordance with 
the overall proposal and good planning in general.   
 
[For the purposes of this condition 'infrastructure' is defined as the 
affordable housing, schools, local centres, open space, and ecology 
visitors centre; and the 'means of access' to the site including the entire 
Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road and its related new roundabout 
junctions, the alterations to the existing West Ashton Road/Bratton 
Road/A350 junction, the new roundabout 'R4', the new spur roads and 
related bridges (from West Ashton Road and new roundabout R2)]. 
 

6 With the exception of the Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road, before 
any other parts of the development hereby approved are commenced the 
following shall have been carried out: 
 

(a) The submission to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing of detailed schemes for 'advance ecology mitigation', 
broadly in accordance with the Green Infrastructure & Biodiversity 
Strategy dated September 2017, as follows - 

 
(i) a scheme for strengthening of the hedgerow alongside West 

Ashton Road to the south-west corner of Biss Woods with 
thorny planting and fencing, and provision for future 
maintenance; 

 
(ii) schemes for the 100m buffer between Biss Woods and the 

employment land and between the employment land and the 
east of West Ashton Road housing land, to include landscaping 
with appropriate impenetrable fencing and hedge planting and 
provision for future maintenance in accordance with Figure 6.2 
of the  ES Addendum Volume 1; 

 
(iii) a scheme for the Attenuation pond based on Figure 6.1 of the 

ES Addendum Volume 1, creating a barrier to pedestrian 

Page 12



 
 
 

 
 
 

access between the Green Lane Nature Park Extension and the 
east of West Ashton Road residential area to include 
landscaping, fencing and provision for future maintenance; 

 
(b) The implementation and completion of all of the above schemes as 

approved and continuing maintenance thereafter in accordance 
with the maintenance elements of the schemes. 

 
Before 150 of the dwellings on that part of the application site to the east 
of West Ashton Road are first occupied the following shall have been 
carried out: 
 

(a) The submission to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing of detailed schemes for 'further ecology mitigation', broadly 
in accordance with the Green Infrastructure & Biodiversity Strategy 
dated September 2017, as follows - 

 
(i) A scheme for a circular pedestrian footpath route which will be 

at least 3km in length and link the Green Lane Nature Park with 
the River Biss (with minimal use of roads).  The scheme will 
include details of the footpath - its width, surfacing materials, 
fencing and signposting.  

 
(ii) a scheme for the laying out and equipping of the 'Biss River 

Corridor' and enhanced planting between Biss Woods and the 
River Biss and the Green Lane Nature Park Extension, to 
include landscaping, boundary treatments and provision for 
future  maintenance, where relevant in accordance with the 
specifications set out in the West Wiltshire Leisure and 
Recreation DPD (or any subsequent replacement DPD); 

 
(b) The implementation and completion of all of the above schemes as 

approved. 
 
REASON: To safeguard ecological interests, and specifically bats and 
their habitats. 
 

7 The 'means of access' to the site (which for the purposes of this 
condition includes the entire proposed Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief 
Road and its related new roundabout junctions, the alterations to the 
existing West Ashton Road/Bratton Road/A350 junction, the new 
roundabout 'R4', the new spur roads and related bridges (from West 
Ashton Road and new roundabout R2), and the West Ashton Road 
Cycleway Provision) shall be constructed substantially in accordance 
with the following 'PFA Consulting' drawings: 
 

 P480/100 Figure 6.5 Rev F (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Sheet 1 of 4) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/101 Figure 6.6 Rev G (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Sheet 2 of 4) dated 18/08/17 (as amended through an email from 

Page 13



 
 
 

 
 
 

Aspect Ecology (AB to LK) dated 2/3/18) 

 P480/102 Figure 6.7 Rev F (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Sheet 3 of 4) dated 28/07/17 

 P480/103 Figure 6.8 Rev E (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Sheet 4 of 4) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/104 Rev D (Central Roundabout (R4) Access on West Ashton 
Road) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/105 Rev E (Northern Site Accesses & Cycleway Provision) 
dated 08/09/17 

 P480/106 Figure 6.4 Rev F (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Overview) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/107 Rev E (Northern Junctions & Cycleway Provision 
Overview) dated 08/09/17 

 P480/108 Figure 6.9 Rev B (Typical Section H-H through Relief 
Road with Elevation of Culvert) dated 07/07/17 

 P480/109 Rev C (West Ashton Road Northern Cycleway 
Improvements) dated 09/09/17 

 P480/110 Figure 6.10 Rev E (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road. 
Possible Planting Along Existing A350) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/111 Rev C (Typical Section Through Relief Road (Roundabout 
R1-R2)) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/112 Rev F (Primary Highway Works Plan) dated 08/09/17 

 P480/113 Rev C (Access Junctions Swept Paths) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/26 Figure 6.11 Rev D (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Indicative Bridge General Arrangement) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/41 Figure 6.12 Rev D (Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road 
Southern Access Bridge General Arrangement) dated 18/08/17 

 P480/51 Figure 6.13 Rev A (Northern Access Bridge General 
Arrangement) dated 02/04/14 

 P480/114 Rev A (Highway Long Sections Sheet 1 of 4) dated 
07/07/17 

 P480/115 Rev B (Highway Long Sections Sheet 2 of 4) dated 
07/07/17 

 P480/116 (Highway Long Sections Sheet 3 of 4) dated 04/14 

 P480/117 Rev A (Highway Long Sections Sheet 1 of 4) dated 
07/07/17 

 P843/08 Rev A (Biss Wood Scout Camp Site Access Visibility) 
dated 02/01/18 

 P480/118 (Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road. Minor 
amendment to R1 to access Paddock) dated 25/01/18 

 
The means of access shall be provided in accordance with the Phasing 
Plan and Order of Delivery Schedule to be submitted and approved under 
condition 5.  
 
REASON:  To ensure proper and timely delivery of the means of access 
in accordance with the agreed scheme and in the interests of highway 
safety. 
 

Page 14



 
 
 

 
 
 

8 With regard to the reserved matter relating to the landscaping of the site, 
the  details to be submitted for each Phase shall be in accordance with 
the following documents forming part of the application: 
 

 Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity Strategy (September 2017);  

 ES Addendum Volume 1 Figures 6.1 and 6.2 showing details of 
design of attenuation ponds and buffer between employment and 
residential land;  

 ES Addendum Volume 1 Figures 6.4, 6.17, 6.18 and 6.19 showing 
details of dark corridors through mixed use development. 

 
The details themselves shall include where relevant the following: 
 

 location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land; 

 full details of any trees and hedgerows to be retained, together 
with measures for their protection in the course of development; 

 a detailed planting specification for new planting showing all plant 
species, supply and planting sizes and planting densities;  

 finished levels and contours;  

 means of enclosure;  

 car park layouts;  

 other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;  

 all hard and soft surfacing materials;  

 minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, 
refuse and other storage units, signs, lighting etc);  

 proposed and existing functional services above and below ground 
(e.g. drainage, power, communications, cables, pipelines etc 
indicating lines, manholes, supports etc);  

 
REASON:  The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority before development commences in order that the development 
is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory 
landscaped setting for the development and the protection of existing 
important landscape and ecology features. 
 

9 Notwithstanding the landscaping details submitted for the 'access' 
elements of the application (including the Yarnbrook / West Ashton Relief 
Road), no development within any Phase or sub Phase relevant to that 
part of the access shall commence until a scheme of soft landscaping for 
that part of the access has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include :- 
 

 location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and 
hedgerows on the land; 

 full details of any to be retained, together with measures for their 
protection in the course of development; 

 a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply 
and planting sizes and planting densities;  

Page 15



 
 
 

 
 
 

 finished levels and contours;  

 means of enclosure;  

 minor artefacts and structures (e.g. signs, etc);  

 proposed and existing functional services above and below ground 
(e.g. drainage, power, communications, cables, pipelines etc 
indicating lines, manholes, supports etc);  

 
REASON:  To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features 
and in the interests of wildlife. 
 

10 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping for 
any particular Phase or sub Phase of the development shall be carried 
out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation 
of any building within the Phase or the completion of the Phase or sub 
Phase whichever is the sooner;  All shrubs, trees and hedge planting 
shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage 
by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall 
be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
 

11 No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site 
within any particular Phase or sub Phase, and; no equipment, machinery 
or materials shall be brought on to site for the purpose of development 
within the particular Phase, until a Tree Protection Plan showing the 
exact position of each tree/s and their protective fencing in accordance 
with British Standard 5837: 2012: "Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction -Recommendations"; has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and;  
 
The protective fencing shall be erected in accordance with the approved 
details. The protective fencing shall remain in place for the entire 
development Phase and until all equipment, machinery and surplus 
materials have been removed from the site. Such fencing shall not be 
removed or breached during construction operations. 
 
No retained tree/s shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any 
retained tree/s be topped or lopped other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars. Any topping or lopping approval shall be 
carried out in accordance British Standard 3998: 2010 "Tree Work - 
Recommendations" or arboricultural techniques where it can be 
demonstrated to be in the interest of good arboricultural practise. 

Page 16



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
If any retained tree is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, another tree 
shall be planted at the same place, at a size and species and planted at 
such time, that must be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
No fires shall be lit within 15 metres of the furthest extent of the canopy 
of any retained trees or hedgerows or adjoining land and no concrete, oil, 
cement, bitumen or other chemicals shall be mixed or stored within 10 
metres of the trunk of any tree or group of trees to be retained on the site 
or adjoining land. 
 
[In this condition "retained tree" means an existing tree which is to be 
retained in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and 
paragraphs above shall have effect until the expiration of five years from 
the date of commencement of the Phase or sub Phase]. 
 
REASON:  To safeguard trees to be retained in the interests of amenity. 
 

12 Where a particular Phase or sub Phase of the development includes a 
play area(s), before 50% of the dwellings in that Phase or sub Phase are 
first occupied (or before a percentage/number to be otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority are first occupied) the following 
shall have been carried out: 
 

a) The submission to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing of a scheme for the laying out and equipping of the play 
area(s), to include landscaping, boundary treatment and 
provision for future maintenance and safety checks of the 
equipment; and 

 
b)  The laying out and equipping of the play area in accordance 

with the approved scheme.    
 
REASON: To ensure that the play areas are provided in a timely manner 
in the interests of the amenity of future residents. 
 

13 Before the first occupation of 1,250 dwellings on any part of the 
application site (or before a percentage/number to be otherwise agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority are first occupied) the following 
shall have been carried out: 
 

(a) The submission to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing of a scheme for the marketing of the 'Proposed 
Employment' land and the commercial elements of the 
'Proposed Local Centres'; 

 
(b) Implementation of the marketing scheme in accordance with the 

approval; 
 

Page 17



 
 
 

 
 
 

(c) Construction and operation of the roundabout junction (R4) and 
at least 20m of the spur road and related services into the 
'Proposed Employment' land.  

 
REASON:  To accord with the proposal and the requirements of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy in that it allocates part of the application site for 
employment development. 
  

14 With the exception of the 'Advance Ecology Mitigation', prior to the 
commencement of the development Stage 2 Road Safety  Audit(s) shall 
be carried out for the Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road and all other 
elements of the 'access' (either singly or in combination), and this/these 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing 
before any highway construction works begin.  Thereafter, no 
development shall commence in any particular Phase or sub Phase of the 
development until full construction details/drawings of the means of 
access within that Phase or sub Phase have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  Following approval 
the 'access' shall be constructed in accordance with the approved 
details/drawings and agreed Stage 2 Road Safety Audit(s). 
 
REASON:  In the interests of highway safety. 
  

15 Notwithstanding the references in the Design and Access Statement, the 
development hereby approved shall make provision for vehicle parking in 
accordance with the Wiltshire Council Local Transport Plan 3 dated 2015.  
In this Strategy domestic garages will only count towards the parking 
provision if the minimum dimensions specifed in the Strategy are 
achieved. 
 
REASON:  To ensure sufficient vehicle parking in the development in the 
interests of highway safety. 
 

16 No development shall commence within any particular Phase or sub 
Phase of the application site until:  
 

(a) A written programme of archaeological investigation for the 
Phase, which should include on-site work and off-site work 
such as the analysis, publishing and archiving of the results, 
has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority; and 

 
(b) The approved programme of archaeological work has been 

carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: The application contains insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to enable the recording of any matters of 

Page 18



 
 
 

 
 
 

archaeological interest. 
 

17
= 

No development hereby approved (save for the construction of the 
Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road) shall commence in any sub Phase 
of the development which includes land either adjacent to the railway line 
or adjacent to the 'green corridor' alongside the railway line until details 
of measures to safeguard the amenities of future occupants of the 
development within the sub Phase from potential noise disturbance from 
trains have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority.  The Development shall then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON:  The railway line will be a potential source of noise disturbance 
to future nearby occupants of the development.  This disturbance can be 
removed and/or reduced to acceptable levels through appropriate design 
and layout. 
 

18 The application is supported by evidence which demonstrates that the 
potential for significant concentrations of contaminants to be present 
within the application site is low.  However -  
 

(a) If, during any Phase or sub Phase of the development, any 
evidence of historic contamination or likely contamination is found, 
the developer shall immediately cease work within the Phase or 
Sub Phase and contact the Local Planning Authority in writing to 
identify what additional site investigation may be necessary; and - 

 
(b) In the event of unexpected contamination being identified, all 

development within the relevant Phase or sub Phase of 
development shall cease until such time as an investigation has 
been carried out and a written report submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority, any remedial works 
recommended in that report have been undertaken and written 
confirmation has been provided to the Local Planning Authority 
that such works have been carried out.  Construction shall not 
recommence until the written agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority has been given following its receipt of verification that 
the approved remediation measures have been carried out.  

 
REASON:  To ensure that potential land contamination is dealt with 
adequately in the interests of protecting the environment. 
 

19 Prior to the commencement of any Phase or Sub Phase of the 
development which includes or affects any public rights of way within the 
Phase or Sub Phase, detailed schemes for the improvement of these 
rights of way (including widening and/or re-surfacing) and a programme 
for implementing the improvements shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority for approval in writing. Thereafter the development 
shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved 
improvements and the programme.  

Page 19



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
REASON: Improvements will be required to these public rights of way as 
a consequence of the additional use they will endure due to the 
development. The improvements will ensure the continued safe use and 
enjoyment of the footpaths by members of the public  
 
INFORMATIVE: The Design & Access Statement indicates that parts of a 
number of public rights of way may be re-routed due to the development. 
No works directly affecting any rights of way may commence until a 
permanent diversion or extinguishment order has come into effect. The 
applicant must apply separately to Wiltshire Council for such an order, it 
cannot be presumed that the granting of this planning permission will 
automatically be followed by the making of the order. If Wiltshire Council 
makes an order and any objections to it cannot be resolved, the matter 
will be referred to the Secretary of State for determination. The Planning 
Inspectorate will make the determination on behalf of the Secretary of 
State. The LPA may agree to a temporary closure or temporary re-routing 
of the rights of way on the grounds of safety if necessary. 
 

20 Prior to the commencement of development of any residential units in 
any Phase or Sub-Phase of the development an application for the 
stopping up and/or diversion of public rights of way NBRA9 and/or 
NBRA11 shall be submitted to Wiltshire Council. Following which no 
residential development within any Phase or Sub-Phase crossed by these 
rights of way shall commence unless either:  
 

i) A footpath diversion and stopping up order that incorporates 
the stopping up of the existing footpath route across the railway 
at level has been made and confirmed by the local planning 
authority or the Secretary of State, or  

ii) the Secretary of State, upon consideration of a stopping up 
order made by the local planning authority as aforementioned in 
(i) above does not confirm the order.  

 
Upon any confirmed diversion and stopping up order coming into force, 
the new footpath route shall be fully completed prior to the occupation of 
units within any Phase or Sub-Phase crossed by public rights of way 
NBRA9 and/or NBRA11. 
 
REASON: To ensure the continued safe operation of the rights of way 
network. 
 
INFORMATIVE:  Network Rail will provide the developer with all the 
appropriate information to ensure railway safety issues concerning the 
White Horse and Yarnbrook railway level crossings are fully considered 
before a decision on the stopping up or diversion of the public rights of 
way NBRA9 and NBRA11 is taken by the local planning authority or 
Secretary of State. 
 

Page 20



 
 
 

 
 
 

21 Prior to first occupation of the first 150 houses on the development 
hereby approved, a Public Art Strategy shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority for approval in writing. The Strategy shall set out how 
public art will be provided as part of the development, and a programme 
for this. Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved Strategy and programme. 
 
REASON: To achieve a high quality living environment in the interests of 
amenity, and to accord with policies CP3 and CP57 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. 
 

22 No development shall take place within individual Phases or sub Phases 
of the development until a site specific Construction Environmental 
Management Plan, or Plans, (CEMP(s)) for that Phase or sub Phase, or an 
overarching CEMP for the entire application site, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The CEMP(s) 
must demonstrate the adoption and use of the best practicable means to 
reduce the effects of noise, vibration, dust and site lighting. The plan(s) 
should include, but not be limited to: 
 

 Procedures for maintaining good public relations including 
complaint management, public consultation and liaison; 

 Arrangements for liaison with the Council's Public Protection 
Team; 

 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site 
boundary, or at such other place as may be agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority, shall be carried out only between the following 
hours: 08:00 Hours and 18:00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 
08:00 and 13:00 Hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays 
and Bank Holidays; 

 Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and 
waste from the site must only take place within the permitted hours 
detailed above; 

 Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2 : 2009 
Noise and Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites shall 
be used to minimise noise disturbance from construction works; 

 Procedures for emergency deviation of the agreed working hours; 

 Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants; 

 Measures for controlling the use of site lighting whether required 
for safe working or for security purposes; 

 Construction traffic routing details. 

 Ecology mitigation measures to cover -  
- protection of retained habitats; 
- creation of new habitats including provision of bat boxes; 
- management and monitoring of created and retained habitats 

(until taken over by management company or WWT);  
- precautionary working method statements and works to be 

overseen by an ecologist; monitoring requirements and details 
of frequency of monitoring, thresholds, remedial measures and 

Page 21



 
 
 

 
 
 

timescales for remediation;  
- monitoring requirements for habitats, mitigation features and 

species including details of frequency of monitoring, thresholds, 
remedial measures and timescales for remediation (to cover 
amongst other things, establishment / width of hop-overs, 
habitat structure / composition of woodland in Biss and Green 
Lane Woods, bat use of underpasses); 

- testing and adjusting lighting, in accordance with monitoring 
results';  

- compliance procedures. 
 

 And with particular regard to the Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief 
Road the following specific ecology mitigation information -  
- Long and cross sections for each underpass based on site 

surveyed; measurements showing the relative positions of 
hedgerows, existing ground levels, earthworks and underpass;  

- The timetable of works required to complete the culvert works 
having regard to seasonal ecological and planting constraints; 

- The programme of construction works to demonstrate how the 
ecological constraints of the culverts works have been fully 
integrated into the project programme (i.e. Gantt chart) and how 
it affects the critical path. 

- A protocol for constructing underpasses and hop-overs 
including exact timescales, demonstrating removal of as little 
hedgerow as possible, erection of 4m high bat fencing and 
establishing new planting. 

 
The approved CEMP(s) shall be adhered to and implemented throughout 
the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
A report prepared by the Ecological Clerk of Works certifying that the 
required ecology mitigation and/or compensation measures identified in 
the CEMP(s) have been completed to their satisfaction, and detailing the 
results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works undertaken 
or required, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval within 3 months of the date of substantial completion of the 
development or at the end of the first planting season following this, 
whichever is the sooner.  Any approved remedial works shall then be 
carried out under the strict supervision of a professional ecologist 
following that approval. 
 
REASON:  In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers and 
of wildlife during the construction of the development. 
 

23 A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP), or individual 
Plans, (LEMPs) for the 'River Biss Corridor', the '100m buffer' between 
Biss Woods and the employment land, the 'Green Lane Nature Park 
Extension', the 'Attenuation pond … creating barrier to pedestrian 
access', other barriers to control access to Biss Woods, dark corridors 
through the mixed use development, and the Yarnbrook & West Ashton 

Page 22



 
 
 

 
 
 

Relief Road shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority before commencement of the relevant element of the 
development to which the LEMP or LEMPS applies.  The content of the 
LEMP(s) shall include the following information:  
 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed; 
b) Landscape and ecological trends and constraints on site that 

might influence management; 
c) Aims and objectives of management; 
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and 

objectives; 
e) Prescriptions for management actions; 
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan); 
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for 

implementation of the plan; 
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures; 
i) Details of how the aims and objectives of the LEMP will be 

communicated to future occupiers of the development. 
 
The LEMP(s) shall also include details of the legal and funding 
mechanism(s) by which the long-term implementation of the plan will be 
secured by the developer with the management body/ies responsible for 
its delivery.  
 
The LEMP(s) shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show 
that the conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP(s) are not being 
met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed 
and implemented.  
 
The LEMP(s) shall be implemented in full in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority before development commences in order that the development 
is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure adequate protection, 
mitigation and compensation for protected species. 
 

24 No development in any particular Phase or sub Phase of the development 
or associated with the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road in 
isolation shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of 
surface water from the Phase or sub Phase or from the Relief Road in 
isolation, incorporating sustainable drainage details, and any related 
programme for delivery, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development within the Phase shall 
not be first occupied and/or the Relief Road shall not be first used by 
non-construction traffic until surface water drainage has been 
constructed in accordance with the approved scheme(s) and related 
programme(s). 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable 

Page 23



 
 
 

 
 
 

this matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and 
the matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before development commences in any phase in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the 
development can be adequately drained. 
 

25 No development shall commence on site (save for the construction of the 
Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road) until details of the works for the 
disposal of sewerage, including the point of connection to the existing 
public sewer and any off-site works, and any related programme for 
delivery have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  No dwelling shall be first occupied until the 
approved details have been implemented in accordance with the 
approved plans and related programme. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory 
means of drainage and does not increase the risk of flooding or pose a 
risk to public health or the environment. 
 

26 There shall be no surface water drainage connection from this 
development to the foul water system. 
 
REASON:  To safeguard the integrity of the foul water system. 
 

27 No external lighting (other than normal domestic lighting) shall be 
installed on site within each Phase or sub Phase until plans showing the 
type of light appliance, the height and position of fitting, illumination 
levels and light spillage in accordance with the appropriate 
Environmental Zone standards set out by the Institute of Lighting 
Engineers in their publication Guidance Notes for the Reduction of 
Obtrusive Light (ILE, 2005) (or any standards updating or replacing these 
standards), for that Phase have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Where lighting is proposed in ecologically sensitive areas (such as the 
'dark corridors' for bats) the lighting details and related scheme shall 
ensure minimum impact on the ecological interests of these areas and 
accord with: 
 

 'Interim Guidance Recommendations to help minimise the impact 
of Artificial Lighting' (Bat Conservation Trust 03/06/14); 

 ES Addendum Volume 1 Figures 6.4, 6.18 and 6.19 showing 
principles of lighting design; 

 Lighting of the Yarnbrook & West Ashton Relief Road to be in 
accordance with Figure 6.17 and 6.20 of the ES Addendum Volume 
1. 

 
The approved lighting shall be installed and shall be maintained in 
accordance with the approved details and no additional external lighting 
shall then be installed. 

Page 24



 
 
 

 
 
 

In addition there will be no lighting above or beneath bridges except at 
B3 where lighting will be in accordance with Figure 6.17 and 6.20 of the 
ES Addendum Volume 1. 
 

REASON: In the interests of the amenities and ecological interests of the 
area and to minimise unnecessary light spillage above and outside the 
development site. 
 

28 With the exception of the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road, no 
development shall commence in any particular Phase or sub Phase of the 
development hereby approved until a scheme for the provision of fire 
hydrants to serve the Phase or sub Phase and any related programme for 
delivery has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. Thereafter no dwelling shall be occupied within the 
Phase or sub Phase until the fire hydrant serving the dwelling has been 
installed as approved.   
 

REASON: To ensure the safety of future occupiers of the dwellings. 
 

29 Notwithstanding the information set out in the Waste Management 
Strategy (May 2015) accompanying the planning application, a further 
more detailed waste management strategy or strategies shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing prior to 
commencement of the development.  The more detailed strategy or 
strategies will add detail to the initial Waste Management Strategy, 
specifying in particular where and how construction waste (notably the 
waste material excavated from the site to enable construction works) will 
be, in the first place, re-used on site (including estimates of quantities to 
be re-used and where); and, in the second place, removed from the site 
(including quantities, end disposal locations and transportation routes 
thereto).  Additionally, the detailed strategy or strategies will provide a 
'plan' for the management of other waste arising from civil and building 
construction, including measures to minimise such waste generation in 
the first place and to re-cycle wherever possible.  The development shall 
be carried out strictly in accordance with the original Waste Management 
Strategy (May 2015) and the subsequent approved and complementary 
more detailed waste management strategy or strategies.   
 

REASON:  The original Waste Management Strategy contains insufficient 
detail to enable waste management to be agreed at this stage.  The 
requirement for a more detailed waste management strategy arises from 
Wiltshire Council's Waste Core Strategy Policy 6 (Waste Reduction and 
Auditing), and in particular its requirement to demonstrate the steps to be 
taken to dispose of unavoidable waste in an environmentally acceptable 
manner and proposals for the transport of waste created during the 
development process.    
 

INFORMATIVE:  The reason for allowing the potential for more the one 
waste management strategy is in the event of the Yarnbrook and West 
Ashton Relief Road requiring a standalone strategy for the management 
of its waste. 

Page 25



 
 
 

 
 
 

30 Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved a strategic 
level scheme for the provision of ultra low energy vehicle infrastructure 
(electric vehicle charging points) and a programme for delivery shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing.  The 
approved scheme shall inform the subsequent reserved matters 
applications, and shall be implemented as approved and in accordance 
with the programme.  
 

REASON: In the interests of air quality and reducing vehicular traffic to 
the development.  
 

INFORMATIVE:  It is recommended that the ultra low energy vehicle 
infrastructure should be provided at appropriate publicly accessible 
locations such as the local centres but not for individual residential 
dwellings. 
 

31 Prior to the commencement of each Phase or sub Phase of the 
development or commencement of the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief 
Road hereby approved, a scheme or schemes of ecology enhancement 
measures as identified in the Environmental Statement Addendum 
Volume 1, to include (as appropriate) designs, locations, numbers and 
sizes of each measure and a programme for their delivery, for each Phase 
or sub Phase or the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing.  The 
scheme or schemes shall be implemented as approved in accordance 
with the programme and maintained thereafter. 
 

REASON:  In the interests of safeguarding other ecological interests.   
 

32 With the exception of the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road, no 
development in any Phase or Sub Phase of the development hereby 
approved shall commence until a scheme for water efficiency relevant to 
all the buildings within the Phase or Sub Phase has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter no 
building within the Phase or Sub Phase shall be first occupied until the 
water efficiency measures relevant to the building have been installed 
and are operational in accordance with the approved scheme. 
  
REASON:  In the interests of sustainable development and climate 
change adaptation. 
  
INFORMATIVE:  The development should include water efficient systems 
and fittings.  These should include dual-flush toilets, water butts, water-
saving taps, showers and baths, and appliances with the highest water 
efficiency rating (as a minimum). Greywater recycling and rainwater 
harvesting should be considered.  An appropriate submitted scheme to 
discharge the condition will include a water usage calculator showing 
how the development will not exceed a total (internal and external) usage 
level of 110 litres per person per day. 
 

Page 26



 
 
 

 
 
 

33 With the exception of the Yarnbrook and West Ashton Relief Road, no 
development hereby approved shall commence until a scheme setting 
out a strategy for the control / removal of Himalayan balsam has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The 
scheme shall include a programme for the implementation of the 
strategy.  The strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme and programme. 
 

REASON:  In the interests of ecology and to ensure compliance with the 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  
 

34 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may 
represent chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure 
Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL 
Charging Schedule. If the development is determined to be liable for CIL, 
a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount of CIL 
payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 
submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. 
In addition, you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, 
please submit the relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. 
The CIL Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability must be 
submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development.  
Should development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being 
issued by the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not 
apply and full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. 
Should you require further information or to download the CIL forms 
please refer to the Council's Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communit
yinfrastructurelevy.  

 
Additional condition – 
 

35 The Employment Land elements of the development hereby permitted 
shall be used only for the provision of financial services (Class E(c)(i) 
uses), professional services (other than health or medical services (Class 
E(c)(ii) uses), other appropriate services in a 
commercial/business/service locality (Class E(c)(iii) uses), indoor 
sport/recreation/fitness uses (not involving motorised vehicles or 
firearms) (Class E(d) uses), provision of medical or health services 
(except the use of premises attached to the residence of the consultant 
or practitioner (Class E(e) uses), creche/day nursery/day centre uses (not 
including a residential use) (Class E(f) uses), uses which can be carried 
out in a residential area without detriment to its amenity (Class E(g) uses 
– offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 
research and development of products or processes, and industrial 
processes), or uses for the sale or display for sale of motor vehicles, and 
for no other purpose (including any other purpose in Class E of the 
Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) (or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 

Page 27



 
 
 

 
 
 

instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification).   
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there 
shall be no change of use of any part of the Employment Land elements 
of the development hereby permitted to any other use other than where 
the change of use is to, or is from, any of the uses specified in the above 
paragraph.     
 
REASON:  To accord with the terms of the planning application and the 
requirements of Core Policies 2 and 29 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 
which allocates land at Ashton Park specifically for ‘employment’ uses.  

 
Additional informative – 
 

36 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The applicant is encouraged to engage with the West Wiltshire District 
Scout Association to assist it in its aspirations to achieve an alternative 
access to the Jubilee Wood Scout Camp Site. 

 
Reason for refusal – 
 

1. The planning application fails to make provision for essential 
infrastructure made necessary by the proposed development – namely, 
affordable housing, education facilities, health facilities, open spaces, 
ecology mitigation, highways infrastructure and waste collection 
facilities.  With particular regard to affordable housing, the planning 
application fails to make adequate provision for affordable housing in 
accordance with adopted affordable housing policy and/or fails to offer 
a means of achieving compliance with adopted affordable housing 
policy over the lifetime of the development.   

 
This is contrary to Core Policy 3 (‘Infrastructure Requirements’) and 
Core Policy 43 (‘Providing Affordable Housing’) of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy and national planning policy (paragraph 57 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and ‘Viability’ guidance in the Planning 
Practice Guidance).    

 

19 Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 

 
 

(Duration of meeting:  10.40 am - 3.20 pm) 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Kieran Elliott of Democratic Services, 
direct line 01225 718504, e-mail kieran.elliott@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 
 

Page 28



REPORT FOR STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE  

Date of Meeting 16 September 2021 

Application Number 19/05898/OUT 

Site Address Land off Park Road, Malmesbury, SN16 0QW 

Proposal Outline application for up to 50 residential units, internal road, 

parking, open space and associated works, with all matters 

reserved other than access. 

Applicant Stonewater Housing Association and White Lion 

Land (Malmesbury) Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Malmesbury  

Electoral Division Malmesbury Councillor Gavin Grant 

Grid Ref 392415  187968 

Type of application Outline Planning Permission 

Case Officer  Catherine Blow 

 

Reason for the application being considered by Committee  

 

The matter has been scheduled as a Strategic Committee item due to the development being 

a major development that does not conform with the provisions of the development plan.  In 

addition, Cllr Grant has raised concerns in relation to the proposed development due to its 

non-conformity with the Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan and as the site is not allocated for 

development in the development plan.   

 

1. Purpose of Report 

 

The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 

development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that 

the application be approved subject to the completion of a planning obligation and conditions.  

 

2. REPORT SUMMARY 

 

The key issues in considering the application are as follows: 

 

• Principle of the Development 

• Deliverability 

• Character and appearance 

• Impact on Residential Amenity 

• Highway Impacts 

• Sustainability 

• Drainage / Flood Risk 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



• Ecology 

• Heritage  

• S106 contributions (Affordable Housing, Education, Public Open Space, Waste) 

 

Malmesbury Town Council has raised an objection to the proposed development and a total 

of 136 letters of objection have been received, raising comments and objections to the 

proposal with 5 letters of support for the proposal.   

 

THE PROPOSAL 

 

The proposed development relates to the provision of up to 50 residential dwellings (40% 

affordable), internal road, parking, open space and associated works.  This is an outline 

application with all matters reserved except access, which is for determination in this 

application.   

 

The application is submitted jointly by White Lion Land (Malmesbury) Ltd and Stonewater 

Housing Association, a registered housing provider.  The initial proposal sought planning 

permission for a scheme of 100% affordable units, namely entry level homes.  However, since 

the original submission, the scheme has been revised and it has been confirmed the proposal 

would provide up to 50 homes and would include the provision of 40% affordable homes. 

 

The application has been revised during the application process with a revised red site outline 

provided as well as updated information regarding the drainage strategy, ecology and highway 

access.  The illustrative site layout is to be considered illustrative only with consideration of 

relevant details reserved for any subsequent reserved matters application(s).  Other plans 

included in the submission that show an indicative layout are also considered on the basis of 

indication only and would not form part of the approved scheme and would be subject to 

subsequent approval.   

 

The proposed highway works associated with the proposal would include the widening of the 

Park Road carriageway to 5.5 m from the Park Close junction and extending into the 

development, together with the provision of a 2m wide footway adjoining the south-western 

side of the carriageway, infilling of an existing drainage ditch and the realignment of the north-

western section of Park Road to provide a priority junction with the new access road. The 

proposed access would result in the diversion re-prioritisation of Park Road into the application 

site.  The junction provided would result in priority to those entering and exiting the application 

site with a T junction provided for those travelling to and from the West of the application site.    

 

 

EIA 

 

The proposed development relates to the erection of up to 50 dwellings on land covering 1.2 

Hectares.  The proposal is not; 

 

(i) development that includes more than 1 hectare of urban development which is not 

dwellinghouse development; or 

 

(ii) development that includes more than 150 dwellings; or 

Page 30



  

(iii) development that exceeds 5 hectares. greater than 5 hectares or consist of 1 hectare 

on non-dwelling housing development. 

 

The proposal would not therefore fall within any of the criteria set out within Schedule 2, 

subsection 10(b) of The Town and Country Planning Environmental Impact Assessment 

Regulations 2017. As such, an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required in this 

case. 

 

3. Site Description 

 

The application site, as outlined in red, consists of an area of land totalling 1.2 hectares in 

area, drawn around part of an existing open field located close to the rear boundaries of 

properties 21 -26 White Lion Park.  The application site includes the hedge boundaries located 

to the southwest boundary and boundary with Park Road.   

 

The site outlined in red forms part of an open grassed, closely mown field.  The application 

site includes the current field boundaries to the southwest and southeast of the site.  The 

application site includes the hedge boundary and ditches that run along the southern side of 

Park Road and two preserved  trees (subject of TPO N/12/00001/IND) that are also contained 

within the north east boundary of the existing field.  The remaining TPO trees and woodland 

subject of that order are not contained within the red site boundary but are within the 

applicant’s ownership boundary.   

 

The site slopes up from Park Road fairly steeply towards White Lion Park.  The site is located 

in the Avon River Valley with the boundary to the Cotswold AONB located to the western side 

of Park Lane.  Park Road, including land within the red site boundary forming the proposed 

access to the site, is low lying and close to the river valley and is located in Flood Risk Zones 

2 and 3 and part of the application site is also is an area at risk of both ground water and 

surface water flooding.  The indicative housing layout shows housing only in flood risk zone 1.   

 

The site is also a former twentieth century outfarm (now demolished) of regular courtyard plan, 

a potential site for archaeology. 

 

The proposed development site lies in countryside outside the town’s settlement boundary 

and is not identified as a housing site within the ‘Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan’ 

(February 2020) or the Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan (Made 2015) or allocated for any 

form of development in the adopted development plan.    

 

The application is supported by ecology survey information regarding protected species, 

including potential for the site to support bats, badgers, invertebrates.   

 

4. Planning History 

 

N/11/01382/OUT-Outline Planning Consent for Residential Development (77 Dwellings); 

Community Building (Use Class D1); Public Open Space; and Associated Works including 

Construction of New Access REFUSED 

 

Page 31



N/12/03464/OUT- Residential Development (77 Dwellings); Community Building (Use Class 

D1); Public Open Space and Associated Works Including Construction of a New Access 

(Resubmission of 11/01382/OUT). REFUSED, Dismissed by the Secretary of State on 8th 

September 2014, solely on the basis that releasing the appeal site for housing now could result 

in a significant and demonstrable adverse impact on the outcomes of both the WCS and the 

MNP and that, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole, that 

could run the risk of outweighing any immediate benefits provided by the appeal scheme. 

 

 

5. Local Planning Policy 

 

Wiltshire Core Strategy (2015) 

 

Core Policy 1- Settlement Strategy 

Core Policy 2 - Delivery Strategy 

Core Policy 3 – Infrastructure Strategy 

Core Policy 13 - Malmesbury Community Area 

Core Policy 43 – Providing Affordable Homes 

Core Policy 44 - Rural Exception sites 

Core Policy 50 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Core Policy 51- Landscape. 

Core Policy 52 - Green Infrastructure. 

Core Policy 57 - Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping 

Core Policy 58 - Ensuring the Conservation of the Historic Environment 

Core Policy 60 – Sustainable Transport 

Core Policy 61 – Transport and New Development 

Core Policy 64 – Demand Management 

Core Policy 67 – Flood Risk 

 

North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 saved policies: 

H4 – Residential Development in the Open Countryside 

NE14: Trees, Site Features and the control of new development. 

CF3: Provision of Open Space 

NE18: Noise and Pollution  

 

Wiltshire Housing Site Allocations Plan (February 2020) 

 

The settlement boundary for Malmesbury has been reviewed within this document.  The 

amended settlement boundary, as set out on page 122 of the document (and the subsequent 

maps after this page) the application site remains outside but in close proximity to the 

settlement boundary.   

Page 32



 
(Extract from WHSAP with application site location indicated) 

 

Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan (Made 2015) - Volume 1 (Main Body) & Volume 2 (Design 

Guide) 

 

 

• Objective:  Allocated sites for housing to at least meet the dwelling requirement for 

Malmesbury Town as set out in Wiltshire Core Strategy 

• Policy 1: Land to the north west of Malmesbury, south of the Dyson Limited research 

and development facility and west of Malmesbury CE School (sites 3A and 15) is 

allocated for 170 dwellings  

• Policy 2:  Land at Burton Hill to the north (site 10), east (site 11) and south (site 6) of the 

Primary Health Care Centre is allocated for 50 mixed cottage-type dwellings, for elderly 

members of the community 

 Policy 6: The redundant Burnham House site is allocated for redevelopment to provide 

approximately 50 dwellings as the first choice for Extra Care Housing. 

• Objective:  Assess housing requirement for the remainder of the Neighbourhood Area 

and address concern about volume windfall housing.   

• Policy 3: Housing development in each designated small villages within the plan area 

(Millbourne and Corston) shall be on  windfall sites and the number of dwellings should 

ideally not exceed single figures in order to preserve the rural character.   

• Objective:  Ensure that housing development responds to the identifiable needs of the 

changing populations of the Neighbourhood Plan Area  

• Policy 4 – Planning Applications Planning applications for new housing, including 

conversions, must be tested against the current evidence of local demand and supply 

from sources including Wiltshire Council population forecasts, the Social Housing 

Register, the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and the most recent 

Neighbourhood Survey. Tables 2.1.1 and 2.1.2, above, are derived from this evidence. 

Page 33



• Policy 5 - applications for new housing, including conversions, should be assessed 

against the demand net of cumulative consents given in the period, not the gross 

demand identified at the beginning of the period Policy 13: The NP Design Guide as set 

out in Volume 2 of the MNP, should be taken into consideration in all developments to 

ensure a high quality of design that respects the specific character of Malmesbury Town 

and the surrounding area. 

• Objective: Enhance the landscape setting of the town. 

- Task 6.2: The settlement Assessment must be used when considering new 

development within Malmesbury Town and the Conservation Area Management Plan 

should be referenced. 

• Objective: Encourage the conservation and use of natural assets.  

- Task 6.3: Investigate extending and improving footpaths and cycle ways. 

- Task 6.4: Ensure the biodiversity of the river valleys is maintained.  

 

Design Quality 

• Objective: Ensure positive relationship between town and countryside. 

- Task 8.4: Development proposals, particularly but only, where sited on the edge of 

Malmesbury must maintain visual connections with the countryside. 

- Task 8.5: the visual impact of new development on the countryside, and on views from 

the countryside, must be enhancing. 

- Task 8.20: The scale and massing of all new buildings must be informed by and 

sensitive to local topography and landscape character, townscape and the wider setting 

of the development within the town. 

 

NPPF 2021 

 

Section 2 – Achieving Sustainable Development – paragraphs 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 14 

Section 4 – Decision-Making – paragraphs 38, 40, 47, 55, 56, 57  

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes – paragraphs 60, 61, 63, 65, 77,  

Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities – paragraphs 92, 93, 98, 100 

Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable transport – paragraphs 104, 105, 107, 108, 110 – 112 

Section 10 – Making effective use of land – paragraphs 119, 120, 124  

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places – paragraphs 126, 128, 129. 130, 131, 132, 

134, 135 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change  - 

paragraph 159, 163, 164,165, 167, 169 

Section 15 – Enhancing the natural environment – 174, 176, 180,  

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment, 189, 192, 193, 194, 195, 

197, 199, 203, 204, 205 

 

Planning Practice guidance 

 

Design: Process and tools – updated (1 October 2019) 

National Design guide – published October 2019 and revised in January 2021 to align with 

the National Model Design Code and Guidance Notes for Design Codes. 

Historic Environment – updated 23 July 2019 

Housing Needs of different groups 24 May 2021 

Natural Environment updated 21 July 2019 

Page 34



Planning Obligations – updated 01 September 2019 

 

6. Summary of consultation responses 

 

This application has been subject to several rounds of consultations and the following 

responses are a summary of the most recent responses received regarding the most up to 

date submissions.   

Malmesbury Town Council – in the consideration of the revised information provided by the 

applicant the Town Council maintain their strong objections to the scheme, which relate to the 

following matters: 

- The site being outside the settlement boundary and not allocated for any development 

within the Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan 

- The Neighbourhood Plan allocates 1,000 dwellings to satisfy the minimum housing 

requirement for Malmesbury of 885 as required by the Wiltshire Core Strategy 

- The Malmesbury NP tested the allocation against the provision of services and the 

additional dwellings would fail to be served by acceptable education and healthcare 

facilities due to these being unplanned 

- There would also be adverse impacts upon highway infrastructure and town centre 

parking availability.   

- Paragraph 71 advises that entry level housing sites should be encouraged unless the 

need for such homes is being met in the Authority’s area and there is no evidence this 

is not being met, the existing provision for such housing (such as the Filand’s site that 

would deliver 54 affordable homes and 80 affordable homes at Backbridge Farm), no 

evidence of the need for such homes 

- The local connection policy should be fiercely defended and implemented and should 

take the approach of the rural exception site policy 44 in the core Strategy which should 

have clear support from the local community and should meet a genuine and identified 

local need.   

- Park Road floods frequently 

- Exacerbation of conflict on the highway with additional traffic and nearby commercial 

unit traffic on a narrow road  

- The site is distance from local services, main roads and local schools increasing 

likelihood of travel by private means to access those services  

- Detrimental impacts upon nearby AONB and ecology  

- Sets a precedent to develop the larger site similar to the previous applications 

 

Brokenborough Parish Council: 

The response objects to the proposed development for the following reasons: 

- Increased traffic through the village  

Page 35



- Increased flooding would isolate villagers from Malmesbury Town Centre  

- Additional light pollution  

- Lack of infrastructure resulting in out-commuting to schools and jobs  

- Lack of parking in the town centre 

- Housing need has been met in this location  

- This site was assessed as part of the adoption of the MNP but was rejected due to 

flooding, difficult cross town travel towards M4, poor access to town centre, 

increased traffic through Brokenborough Road 

 

Wiltshire Council Spatial Planning 

The original response to the proposal related to the original proposal for entry level housing 

which is now not proposed.   No further comments were received regarding the revised 

proposal. The response for similar scale housing developments in Malmesbury advise that  as 

the Council cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, then the 

adverse impacts of granting consent will need to be weighed against the benefits.  

Wiltshire Council Highways 

The original response raised no objection to the principle of the development which would be 

acceptable.  However, the response sought detailed drawings to show the improvements to 

the existing highway infrastructure to demonstrate the highway improvements could be 

provided.  These were provided in February 2021 and the most recent response advises the 

swept paths and road realignment are acceptable no highway objection subject to conditions 

and all works would be subject to a subsequent highway agreement under Section 278 of the 

Highways Act.   

 

The response included detailed comments regarding drainage matters for the site and within 

the highway but the response accepts that matters of the drainage of the site can be dealt with 

at reserved matters stage. 

 

Wessex Water 

The most recent response provided supports the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

comments regarding the density of the scheme and the lack of space for SuDS.  However, the 

response also advises that as all matters regarding the drainage scheme would be provided 

via private means it lies outside the control of Wessex Water.  The response also advises that 

no infrastructure controlled by Wessex Water is permitted to be removed nor are any works to 

the headwall adjacent to 49 Park Road to be undertaken as a result of the proposed 

development without prior consultation with Wessex Water.   

Wiltshire Council Drainage Team  

The initial response raised an objection to the scheme and these concerns related to  the lack 

of consideration for the drainage hierarchy, and space within the site for attenuation features.  

The submission lacked information to demonstrate the scheme has a viable drainage scheme 

Page 36



and particularly, lack of information regarding the discharge points and capacity for drainage 

features to accommodate the proposed flow,  and the reliance upon highways drainage to 

facilitate drainage.  The response sought additional technical information regarding the 

drainage scheme and sought further justification for exemption from drainage hierarchy, 

further survey works and hydraulic modelling of the existing system and outfall point and 

evidence of discharge rate as well as a schedule of repairs if required to the existing system.   

The Applicant provided additional information including a revised site boundary  to include 

attenuation ponds as well as detailed plans and information regarding the highway works.  The 

most recent response does not object to the proposed development but raises concern 

regarding the use of highways drainage features, surveys of the existing system capacity  and 

seeks additional technical information regarding the drainage scheme.    

Environment Agency 

No objection subject to conditions  

Wiltshire Council Urban Design 

The response regarding the revised indicative layout plan raised an objection to the proposal 

due to the design of the proposed access and included detailed concerns regarding the 

indicative layout and the quantum of development proposed.  This response noted the 

proposal is in outline form and they considered no weight should be given to the indicative 

layout proposed and the plan should not be approved.  The response includes detailed 

comments in relation to the indicative layout proposed.  Subsequent discussions with the 

Officer confirm that the revised description of up to 50 dwellings could be accommodated in 

an alternative layout which could be secured by reserved matters consent.  

Crime and Prevention Officer Wiltshire Police 

The response provides detailed comments in relation to the indicative layout proposed.   

Wiltshire Council Landscape 

The response raises concerns regarding the intervisibility between the site and the AONB and 

the urban edge created, harm to the rural character of Park Lane and its transition towards 

the rural area from Malmesbury including the maintenance of landscape features and 

engineering required for an acceptable highway access.  The response also sets out detailed 

comments on the indicative site layout including: lack of space within the site for SuDS, need 

for appropriate stand-offs to trees and hedges including the protection of TPOs, increased 

urban skyline on this sloping site, lack of space for maintenance of boundary hedging, 

comments also provided regarding the detailed layout.    

Subsequent discussions regarding their concerns reveals that their concerns do not relate to 

a landscape objection to the principle of the development and they are unwilling to defend this 

as a reason for refusal.  They also consider that additional land in the blue line could provide 

additional landscaping to filter the transition with the countryside and the AONB.  It is also 

confirmed that the comments relate to the lack of and inadequacy of information regarding the 

details of the scheme and that the description should be up to a maximum number rather than 

a fixed amount to enable more flexibility.   

 

Page 37



Wiltshire Council Tree Officer 

No objections subject to securing additional details regarding tree matters at reserved 

matters phase.   

Wiltshire Council Ecology  

The original response raised concern regarding a lack of clarity regarding the proposed 

development as well as lack of surveys regarding Bats and Great Crested Newts in a nearby 

pond.  The submission also lacked clarity regarding mitigation and compensation for habitats 

within the land ownership boundary. 

Additional information was provided and the subsequent response from Ecology raised 

some concern regarding the scope of the works proposed to vegetation, impact on bats 

arising from tree and hedge removal and lack of clarity regarding enhancements. 

Wiltshire Council Open Space 

 

No objections subject to conditions  

 

The 50 dwellings generate a requirement for 2,832m² of Public Open Space including 222m² 

equipped play space. The response notes  that the proposal does not include any on-site POS 

or play space; and makes mention of access to an informal recreation space to the north west 

of the development. This area cannot be considered as meeting the requirement for the 

proposal unless it is secured and managed in perpetuity as POS. If this area is not being 

secured as POS it is  suggested that an off-site contribution of £123,422.70 for the upgrade 

of facilities at either White Lion recreation ground or Newnton Grove play area (both of which 

are within the accepted distance thresholds of the development) would be applicable. 

 

Wiltshire Council Education 

Early Years 

There is a need for additional early years provision as a result of the proposed development 

that requires an additional 4 places and so a financial contribution would be required  

Primary 

The response advises that primary education contributions are required to provide additional 

places and a contribution of £206,338 (subject to indexation) to provide places for Lea and 

Garsdon School or alternative school expansion is required.   

Secondary 

The relevant school for places for future occupiers is Malmesbury Secondary School, which 

is full and payment of £182,520 towards expansion to accommodate the development is 

required.   

County Archaeology 

No objections 

Page 38



The original response raised concerns regarding the lack of trenching of the site to establish 

the presence of buried remains in this location.  The applicant has now undertaken the 

required investigation and the resulting report is now in hand and approved. It is considered 

the potential for buried heritage assets on site has now been suitably assessed and I do not 

wish to offer any further comment on the application.  

Wiltshire Council Refuse and Recycling 

No objection subject to further information, financial contributions towards receptacles and 

conditions regarding internal layouts.  The response noted the access could accommodate 

refuse vehicles.   

Wiltshire Council Public Protection 

No objections subject to conditions requiring, air quality assessment,  Electric vehicle charging 

points, a construction management plan.    

Wiltshire Council Affordable housing 

The response includes comments regarding the original proposal regarding 100% affordable 

housing (not now relevant).  The most recent response raised no objection subject to the  

provision of 40% provision of affordable housing with an  indicative mix required of affordable 

rent and shared ownership homes as well as the need for accessible units to be secured by 

legal agreement.   

Publicity 

 

The site has been subject to several rounds of consultations and the application has been 

advertised by neighbour letter, site notices and press notice places in the Wiltshire Gazette 

and Herald.  A total of 141 responses have been received in the two rounds of consultations 

completed.  In total 136 letters of objections and 5 letters of support received to the two rounds 

of consultations.  This includes an email from James Gray MP in support of a local resident 

objection.   

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

 

 

Letters in support total 5 and support the proposal for the following reasons: 

 

- Additional affordable homes 

- Improved highway access arrangement 

 

Letters in objection raised the following matters: 

 

- Harm to ecology value such as slow worms, grass snakes due to the loss of this type 

of habitat, including a pond which could sustain Great Crested Newts 

- The pond has not been assessed in the Ecology Report which could sustain breeding 

protected species  

- Pollution in the River Avon from surface water run off that could affect water voles 

- Loss of trees in Park Road  

Page 39



- Loss of habitat for foraging and roosting bats  

- Increased flooding and additional pollution of the River Avon. 

- Increased surface water run off on a sloped site  

- Lack of SUDS integrated into the development  

- The low lying river valley does not allow water to disperse and could affect property 

downstream 

- The single access in the flood risk zone would not allow residents to escape on foot 

due to flood levels  

- Lack of infrastructure to serve the additional dwellings  

- Lack of school places to accommodate new homes with travel for pupils to Lea, with 

limited public transport 

- Unsuitable location for new homes  

- The homes would be in excess of the allocation for homes in Malmesbury  

- Not in accordance with the Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan 

- The town will become too large to have a friendly community  

- The town has seen a large amount of building in recent years  

- The housing mix has not been compared to the needs set out in the MNP or already 

permitted schemes  

- Needs already met through existing permissions  

- Loss of a further green field 

- Loss of important views of the countryside 

- Lack of proposed landscape buffer to soften the built edge to the west  

- The diverted road would significantly affect he character of Park Road 

- Increased traffic  and conflict with highway users walking in the vicinity  

- Loss of narrow rural lane used for walking  

- Harm to the local transport network and nearby junctions and dangerous in the winter 

due to icy weather and excessive slopes 

- Increased commuting to jobs outside the town 

- The road widening proposed in Park Road would affect the existing forecourt of an 

existing garage on the south side of Park Road  

- Conflict with existing commercial operators in the vicinity.   

- Additional pollution from traffic  

- The diversion would significantly affect the flow of traffic in Park road and local roads 

- Lack of footpaths in Park Road 

- Lack of visibility splays provided  

- The road and bridge in Park Road are in a poor state of repair 

 

Wiltshire Swifts  

 

Concern is raised in relation lack of provision for wildlife within the site, including swifts which 

are a “red listed” species.  The response recommends 50 swift bricks are incorporated into 

the proposal.   

 

Malmesbury River Valleys Trust  

 

Object for the following reasons: 

- The site is located outside the settlement and in the river valley  

- Increased traffic on surrounding roads  

Page 40



- Loss of the rural, hedged character of Park Road with its mature hedging,  

- Increased flooding  

- The site is not allocated for development in the development plan 

- Lack of school places within Malmesbury resulting in travel to nearby villages to 

education for occupiers  

- Lack of healthcare facilities  

- This is the third application for development of this land 

-  

Malmesbury Civic Trust 

 

Object due to the excessive provision of affordable housing, which can be met through sites 

within the Neighbourhood Plan, the site is located outside the Malmesbury Settlement 

Boundary, the site boundary is artificially marked out and is close to the boundary with the 

AONB.  The site is also susceptible to flooding.   

 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

The MP Mr Luke Hall on behalf of MHCLG responded to a letter from the Mayor of 

Malmesbury in relation to the proposal raising the following issues: 

 

- He is conscious of the impact of development on communities and the Environment 

and the response sets out the planning reforms that set out that local and 

neighbourhood plans are fundamental to the giving local communities power over 

planning decisions that affect them 

- Locally led plans are expected to tackle difficult issues such as meeting local housing 

needs 

- Entry level exception sites provide a form of affordable housing aimed specifically at 

first time buyers or those looking to rent their first home, which is set apart from all 

types of affordable housing.   

- Permission should not normally be granted contrary to an up to date development 

plan and LPAs may only depart from an up to date development if material 

considerations indicate that the plan should not be followed.   

- The response sets out the circumstances where speculative development can be 

protected against in certain circumstances.  

 

 

7. Planning Considerations 

 

7.1 Policy  

 

Under the provisions of Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, applications for planning 

permission must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. At the current time the statutory development plan in 

respect of this application consists of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) (Adopted January 

2015), the ‘saved’ policies of the North Wiltshire Local Plan (NWLP) 2011 (adopted June 

2006); the Wiltshire Housing Sites Allocation Plan (WHSAP) (Feb 2020); and the Malmesbury 

Neighbourhood Plan (MNP) (Made Feb 2015). 

Page 41



 

The proposed development seeks planning permission in outline form, with all matters, except 

access reserved, for 50 homes with 40% of those dwellings being affordable homes.  The 

planning statement advises that an indicative mix would be 28 x 2 bed; 20 x 3 bed; and 2 x 4 

bed. The proposal access would be from Park Road diverted into the site and re-prioritised for 

access into the site with a T-junction provided to allow access to the western part of Park 

Road.   

 
Core Policy 1 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Settlement Strategy) identifies the settlements 

where sustainable development will take place to improve the lives of all those who live and 

work in Wiltshire. Within this policy, Malmesbury is identified as a Market Town, which are 

defined as settlements that have the ability to support sustainable patterns of living in Wiltshire 

through their current levels of facilities, services and employment opportunities. Market Towns 

have the potential for significant development that will increase the jobs and homes in each 

town in order to help sustain and where necessary enhance their services and facilities and 

promote better levels of self-containment and viable sustainable communities.  This is also 

the largest settlement within this community area with other settlements classified as large or 

small villages where there are limited services, employment and facilities and where growth is 

required to be limited.   

 
Core Policy 2 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy states that in line with Core Policy 1, the delivery 
strategy seeks to deliver development in Wiltshire between 2006 and 2026 in the most 
sustainable manner by making provision for at least 178ha of new employment land and at 
least 42,000 homes, with a minimum housing requirement for the North and West Wiltshire 
HMA (which contains Malmesbury) of 24,740 dwellings for the plan period. Core Policy 2 also 
states that sites for development in line with the Area Strategies will be identified through 
subsequent Site Allocations DPDs and by supporting communities to identify sites through 
neighbourhood planning. 

 
Core Policy 13 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy relates to the Malmesbury Community Area and 

states that over the plan period (2006 to 2026), approximately 1,395 new homes will be 

provided of which about 885 should occur at Malmesbury. The latest housing land statement, 

published December 2020, shows that at 1 April 2019: of the 885 homes required for 

Malmesbury 812 homes had been completed and there were 176 homes committed and 

deliverable by 2026. As such, Malmesbury is set to exceed the indicative requirement.    

 
The Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan became part of the development plan on 25th February 

2015. The MNP does not allocate the proposal site for development. The table on page 10 of 

the MNP outlines the 885-dwelling requirement for Malmesbury Town for the WCS Plan Period 

2006-2026. It then states that there have been 483 completions between 2006-14 with 219 

further sites with planning approvals. Therefore, 183 dwellings were required to be identified 

to meet the minimum requirements of the Core Strategy.  

 
In order to achieve delivery of the required 183 dwellings, three housing allocations are made 

within Policies 1, 2 & 6, which respectively allocate the following: 

 

Policy 1 – Backbridge Farm – 170 dwellings (16/06401/FUL resolution to grant pending legal 

agreement)  

Page 42



Policy 2 – Burton Hill – 50 dwellings (16/11603/OUT approved 59 dwellings - 19/07095/REM 

submitted pending determination) 

Policy 6 – Burnham House – 50 dwellings (approved 14/08832/FUL)  

 

It is considered that the approval and delivery of allocations in the MNP follows a plan led 

approach to residential development in Malmesbury and already exceeds the minimum 

requirements of the Wiltshire Core Strategy. Although these allocated sites have approval, the 

HLS statement contains further information in relation to the delivery of the allocated sites as 

follows: 

 

1. Backbridge Farm – delivery is anticipated to be 120 dwellings in the year 2024 - 2026 

– this will not deliver all of the permitted development in the current plan period with 

50 dwellings outstanding  

2. Burton Hill – delivery anticipated 27 dwellings in the year 24/5 and 25/6- this will not 

deliver the totality of the development in the plan period 

3. Burnham house – delivered the anticipated units  

 

It should also be noted that permission has also been granted for additional dwellings, up to 

71 at Filands under reference 19/11569/OUT, last year.  Core Policy 2 of the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy states that other than in circumstances as permitted by other policies within this plan, 

identified in paragraph 4.25, development will not be permitted outside the limits of 

development, as defined on the policies map. The MNP also allocates land for residential 

development and supports limited infill development within the defined boundary of the town 

and thereby includes policies that define where new residential development is acceptable.   

 

The site falls outside of the limits of development for Malmesbury and the proposal does not 

comply with any of the exception policies listed under paragraph 4.25 of the WCS. Similarly, 

as it lies beyond the limits of development, it does not comply with saved policy H4 of the 

North Wiltshire Local Plan as it does not meet the exceptions, set out in that policy also. 

 
The Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan is now over six and a half years old. It is in the early 

stages of review.  The current plan is partly delivering the anticipated housing requirement 

with some of the allocations being delivered, although some allocations are taking longer than 

anticipated.  Due to the age of the document and the current Housing Land Supply position it 

is now the case that the policies in the plan carry less than full weight in consideration of the 

application proposal.  In addition, Policy 4 and 5 seeks to ensure that planning applications for 

new housing be tested on the local demand and supply.  As seen from the evidence in the 

Council’s HLSS the Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 

housing land.   

 
The proposed development seeks to provide up to 50 residential dwellings on land which is 

outside of the settlement boundary for Malmesbury and has not been allocated for residential 

development under the MNP.  Therefore, the development is considered to be contrary to 

Core Policies 1, 2, & 13 of the WCS and the policies of the MNP. 

 
 
 
 

Page 43



7.2 Housing Land Supply 
 
The Core Strategy was adopted in January 2015. Planning Practice Guidance confirms that a 

development plan does not become out-of-date automatically after passage of 5 years. 

However, housing land supply must now be assessed against Local Housing Need for the 

whole of Wiltshire, rather than the previous Housing Market Areas, as per paragraph  74 of 

the NPPF.  

 

The NPPF, within the context of a presumption in favour of sustainable development, aims to 

significantly boost the supply of housing. It requires local planning authorities to identify and 

regularly update a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5 years’ worth of 

housing land supply plus buffer based on past delivery rates. The NPPF makes it clear that 

where this cannot be demonstrated, the most relevant polices for determination of the 

application including the supply of housing (which in this case would include CP1 and CP2 in 

relation to limits of development) cannot be considered up to date, and planning permission 

should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 
As detailed in the most recently published Housing Land Supply Statement (HLSS 2019) the 

Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply.  It currently stands at 4.56 years as 

from April 2019.  In addition, it should also be noted that the North and West HMA, in which 

Malmesbury is located can only demonstrate 4.29 years of supply, lower than the Wiltshire 

wide target.  As a result, the presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out at 

Paragraph 11d of the Framework is engaged so that permission should be granted unless any 

adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 

assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 

 
The proposal is within an area covered by a Neighbourhood Plan. Paragraph 14 of the 

Framework applies in situations where paragraph 11d is triggered because a proposal 

conflicts with a Neighbourhood Plan. In these circumstances paragraph 14 advises that the 

adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to 

significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, provided the 4 criteria apply. These are 

examined below.  

 
NPPF paragraph 14 states; 

 

“in situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications involving 

the provision of housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that conflicts with 

the neighbourhood plan is likely to significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

provided all of the following apply: 

a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less before 

the date on which the decision is made; 

b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified housing 

requirement; 

c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable housing sites 

(against its five year housing supply requirement, including the appropriate buffer as set 

out in paragraph 73); and 

Page 44



d) the local planning authority’s housing delivery was at least 45% of that required over 

the previous three years.” 

 

As the Malmesbury Neighbourhood plan is six years old it fails criteria a). The MNP satisfies 

criteria B-D as the MNP has allocated a sufficient number of homes to meet its requirement, 

the local planning authority can demonstrate a 4.56 land supply and housing delivery is above 

45% for the last three years.  

 

As criteria a) is failed the polices relating to housing in the MNP are considered out of date 

and therefore it is for the decision maker to assess the weight to be afforded to the MNP in 

decision making. It is noted that the Neighbourhood Plan is to be reviewed but this is at an 

early stage. 

 

It can be seen therefore that Core Policies 1, 2 & 13, saved Policy H4 and the housing policies 

of the MNP are all relevant for the supply of housing and under the provisions of the NPPF to 

be considered out of date.   

 
As noted above, it is acknowledged that recent planning approvals and commitments in 

Malmesbury mean that the indicative housing requirements for Malmesbury (up to 2026) have 

been met. However, it is important to consider that housing supply, consistent with the NPPF, 

is assessed at the Wiltshire wide level – where, as set out previously, the Council cannot 

currently demonstrate an adequate supply of housing. In this context and given the scale of 

development proposed, it is not considered that the existing permissions and commitments to 

housing delivery within Malmesbury can in and of itself and irrespective of other considerations 

be a defensible basis for refusal of the proposals in the context of the Council currently being 

unable to demonstrate a 5-year supply of land for Wiltshire as a whole.  

 
Case law has examined the interpretation and operation of national policy with regards the 

ability to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, and the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development. Court judgments have established that: 

 

(i) Policies that are considered to be out-of-date as a result of a shortage in the 5-year 

housing land supply are still capable of carrying weight in the planning balance. The weight 

to be attributed to those policies is a matter for the decision-maker (most recently in Suffolk 

Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes Ltd. [2017] UKSC 37). 

 

(ii) The extent of any shortfall in the 5-year housing land supply is capable of being a 

material consideration (most recently in Hallam Land Management v SoS DCLG [2018] 

EWCA Civ 1808). 

  

The implications of the Council’s 5-year housing land supply position, and the weight to be 

attributed to the development plan policies, must be taken into account in the determination of 

the application. The extent of the 5-year housing land supply shortfall, and the potential for the 

proposal to deliver housing in the current 5-year period to help remedy the current shortage 

in deliverable supply, need to be taken into account in the balancing exercise. 

 

In addition to the provision of general housing the proposal would also provide additional 

affordable homes, for which there is a pressing need in both Malmesbury and also in wider 

Page 45



Wiltshire area.  This is also required to be balanced in the matters to be considered as part of 

this application.   

 

Appeal and court decisions confirm that ultimately it will be up to the decision maker to judge 

the particular circumstances of each application and how much weight should be given to 

conflict with policies for the supply of housing that are ‘out-of-date’. Therefore, consideration 

of the weight which can be provided to the above policies is considered in the balancing 

exercise at the end of this report. 

 
Deliverability  

The NPPF requires sites to be included in the council’s five-year supply to be deliverable.  The 

definition of deliverable is set out in NPPF glossary as follows: 

 

“To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now, offer a 

suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect that 

housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In particular: 

a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning permission, and all 

sites with detailed planning permission, should be considered deliverable until 

permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be delivered 

within five years (for example because they are no longer viable, there is no longer a 

demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans). 

b) where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has been 

allocated in a development plan, has a grant of permission in principle, or is identified 

on a brownfield register, it should only be considered deliverable where there is clear 

evidence that housing completions will begin on site within five years. 

One of the applicants is a registered provider of affordable housing and they retain an interest 

in developing the affordable home element of the scheme as det out in the Planning Statement 

submitted with the application.  This also confirms delivery of the development in the short 

term, with confirmation from the applicant for shorter implementation timeframes for delivery, 

which could  make a significant contribution towards housing supply and there are no known 

barriers to delivery that would unduly delay implementation so can be delivered within the plan 

period.  

 

The applicant confirms the site is viable based on the proposed required S106 contributions, 

conditions, and site constraints. The applicant confirms when the site is marketed, the full 

costs associated with the permission will be known and reflected in the land price ultimately 

agreed. Further, there are no abnormal infrastructure costs or large land requirements 

associated. 

 
 

Page 46



7.3 Character, appearance and visual amenity of the locality 
 
Core Policy 51 states that development should protect, conserve and where possible enhance 

landscape character and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character, while any 

negative impacts must be mitigated as far as possible through sensitive design and landscape 

measures. This advice is echoed in paragraph 174 of the NPPF.  Core Policy 57 states that 

new development must relate positively to its landscape setting and the existing pattern of 

development by responding to local topography to ensure that important views into, within and 

out of the site are to be retained and enhanced. Development is required to effectively 

integrate into its setting and to justify and mitigate against any losses that may occur through 

the development. 

 

The site is located on the north eastern edge of Malmesbury.  The site is at low level and at 

the edge of Park Road but the site rises towards the south as it joins the residential 

development of White Lion Park to the south. That estate extends further north than the 

application site, and as such the development proposal would be seen, when viewed from the 

north and from the AONB to the west against this sub-urban and elevated backdrop of existing 

residential development.   

 
In terms of the impacts of the proposal, it would clearly result in development of an open field 

outside the settlement boundary and intrinsic in the principle of the development of the site, 

would result in its urbanisation.  This would be in conflict with Core Policy 51 and 57 which 

seeks to retain the rural character and setting.  However, any conflict with these policies would 

need to be balanced against other material planning considerations in the planning balance.  

Setting aside the in-principle objection relating to the rural character it is also important to 

assess the impacts of the proposal.   

 
The existing site, depending on the seasons and whether the boundary hedging has been 

recently flailed is in an exposed location, particularly when viewed from the site access in Park 

Road, due to the lack of dense and high boundary hedging.  The view from further west along 

Park Road, where better boundary trees and hedging exist is less obvious.  The site is current 

an open field with limited boundary hedging, which has significant gaps or is closely trimmed.   

The views from the nearby public rights of way, namely MALM12 located to the south west is 

partially screened by an existing recreation field as well as the existing residential development 

at White Lion Park.   

 
There will be views from the AONB as well as further rights of way located to the west but 

these would be distant views and could be further mitigated by provision of additional 

landscaping within the applicants land ownership, which extends significantly further west than 

the application site.  There is concern regarding this matter from the Council’s Landscape 

Officer.  However, it should be noted that the application is in outline form with a requirement 

for the reserved matters and conditions/legal agreement to provide appropriate mitigation such 

as planting to soften the building form.  The Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment 

summarises the impacts of the change of use as major/moderate adverse effect on this aspect 

of the landscape character but an overall improvement in the landscape fabric when compared 

to the baseline, which can be brought about by additional landscaping within the land holding.   

It also summarises the adverse impacts associated with this particular character, namely, the 

Malmesbury-Corsham Limestone Lowlands to be minor.  This is due to the modest size of the 

Page 47



site, intervening landforms and development that reduce the impacts of the proposal upon the 

wider landscape due to the wide existing urbanising influence of existing development in 

Malmesbury.  It also concludes limited visual impacts on users of public rights of way and 

moderate to minor impacts on visual amenity due to the proximity of existing residential 

development.    

 
The loss of a greenfield site in agricultural use would result in some harm to the character and 

appearance of the area. There would be adverse visual effects, particularly for nearby 

residents. Policy CP51 of the Wiltshire Core  Strategy requires developments to protect, 

conserve and where possible enhance landscape character and not have a harmful impact on 

landscape character. Any negative impacts must be mitigated as far as possible through 

sensitive design and landscape measures.  

 
It should be noted that the proposed development would result in the development of a smaller 

site area than that previously considered for up to 77 dwellings, community building, open 

space and associated works under reference N/12/03464/OUT.  That proposal was originally 

refused by the Council on the basis of three reasons relating to: conflict with the development 

plan, prejudicing a plan led approach, and lack of provision of mitigation regarding the 

provision of affordable housing, a range of financial contributions in a legal agreement.  That 

was subject to an appeal, that was originally allowed by the Inspector but then dismissed by 

the Secretary of State in 2014 only on the basis that the immediate benefits associated with 

the increased housing land supply would not justify the release of the site before the 

examination of the Neighbourhood Plan proposals, with testing through referendum.  At that 

time the Neighbourhood Plan was at an advanced stage and sought to allocate other potential 

sites for development, negating the need for additional greenfield release.   

 
As noted in the planning history there were no objections to the previous scheme from the 

Council or during the appeal in relation to the physical development of that larger scheme or 

in relation to the impacts of the highway improvement works.  This was not a matter of concern 

at the appeal raised by the Council or at the subsequent appeal.  Although the current proposal 

seeks a materially different development proposal, with fewer dwellings proposed, as well as 

a more modest development site for the proposed dwellings and no community building, the 

previous appeal needs to be given due regard in consideration of the current application.   

 
As detailed above, it should be noted that the proposal is only sought in outline form, with all 

matters other than access being for consideration in this application.  At this stage the proposal 

is considered to comply with CP51 and CP57 as the effects of the scheme can be appropriately 

mitigated through appropriate landscaping and urban design can be examined at reserved 

matters stage to ensure an appropriate scheme could be provided to accord with the relevant 

policies in the Core Strategy and the Malmesbury Neighbourhood Plan and associated design 

guide. It would be difficult to defend an appeal on the basis of design and layout matters when 

these are matters to be considered at a later reserved matters stage.  Further, the 

management of the open space required to the west could be controlled by a Landscape 

Management Plan via a S106 agreement, ensuring this land is retained as part of the approved 

development and suitably managed in the long term. 

 
In terms of the proposed site access, this is proposed in a similar arrangement as the highway 

access sought in the previous proposal.  It would provide a 5.5 metre (0.5 metres narrower 

Page 48



than the previous appeal proposal) wide carriageway and 2-metre-wide footway to the 

application site access.  This would result in the removal of some of the existing boundary 

hedging in Park Road, which has been subject to previous flailing, to allow the provision of the 

new access to the site and visibility splays.  The proposal also seeks to widen the existing 

carriageway from the West of Park Lane towards the application site and provide a pedestrian 

footway on the southern side of Park Road.  The proposed highways plan annotates the 

proposed highway in relation to existing boundary features.  The widening of the road and 

provision of the footway would be located adjacent to the boundary hedging on both sides of 

Park Road, in an area of existing grass verge and existing ditches.  The proposed highways 

plan shows the highway works to be located in the highway boundary.  The proposal would 

require the removal of vegetation in the vicinity of the proposed access and there would be a 

need to manage some of the existing boundary hedging to enable the provision of the widened 

footway.  However, the proposed access which could also be controlled by conditions and 

section 278 agreement to ensure retention of the hedging along the either side of Park Road, 

where possible.   

 

The proposed access would result in a more formalised access when viewed from Park Road 

travelling both east to west past the application site.  This is a matter raised by consultees, 

namely the landscape and urban design officer.  However, this arrangement is very similar to 

the arrangement accepted in the previous appeal scheme so it would be difficult to raise an 

objection to this element of the scheme in this application.  It should be noted that this would 

be in close proximity to commercial development, namely a modest garage on the south side 

of Park Road and building supply company on the north side of Park Road, both located to 

the west of the site, which have a fairly sub-urban effect on Park Road.  The change that would 

arise as a result of the provision of the footway and widened carriageway would be very 

localised and seen against the backdrop of the commercial sites to the east of application site 

as well as the fairly wide suburban junction of Park Lane.  This being the case and due to the 

proposed site access being similar to the proposed access in the previous appeal application 

considered in 2014 by the Secretary of State, it is not considered that an objection on the basis 

of the urbanisation of Park Road could be substantiated in this instance.    

 
The concern from both the Urban Design and Landscape Officer regarding the proposed 

access are noted.  However, on the basis of the above assessment and previous history of 

the site in the acceptance of a very similar access to the site, it is not considered that the 

provision of the access in the manner proposal would result in such harm to visual amenity to 

justify refusal on the basis of the siting, scale and design of the access in this instance.   

 
The indicative layout of the proposal has been assessed by the Urban Design Officer and 

Landscape Officer, who raise concerns regarding the details of the scheme and the manner 

in which the site could be laid out.  It is accepted that the indicative layout is not in a form that 

should form the basis of the reserved matters scheme.  However, the scheme proposed is for 

up to 50 dwellings and the applicants are  not seeking determination of the detailed layout of 

the scheme at this stage.  The indicative layout would not form part of any consent granted in 

outline form.  The indicative plans are not for determination and as such limited weight can be 

given to them.  Despite the shortfalls in the current indicative layout, it has been confirmed by 

the urban designer in subsequent discussions since their consultation response, that there is 

no reason to believe that up to 50 dwellings could not be provided on the site.  This would 

require careful consideration and with a bespoke design required in order to ensure the 

Page 49



dwellings are provided in a suitable manner.  The proposal would be subject to reserved 

matters applications where this detail will be carefully assessed, and conditions can be 

recommended should the application be recommended for approval.  This would require 

detailed submissions to ensure the land within the application site as well as the land to the 

west outlined in blue, is delivered in an appropriate manner.  Although the red site outline is 

drawn tightly around the boundary of the built form, the LVIA as well as other supporting 

documents, including the design and access statement, ecology appraisal, LVIA and Flood 

Risk Assessment all refer to the land in the applicant’s ownership, which could provide for 

appropriate mitigation and landscaping and this land could be secured in the long term to 

ensure its retention by legal agreement to be entered into should planning permission be 

granted.   

 

7.4 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

The main considerations in this aspect are those properties closest to the site boundaries in 

White Lion Park to the south and eastern boundaries of the site.  The indicative layout 

demonstrates that the development could be provided with adequate separation distances 

with properties orientated so as not to significant impact the outlook, privacy and amenity of 

those occupiers.  In terms of outlook, the site levels slope down away from properties in White 

Lion Park reducing the impact upon the outlook of those properties, which would also be 

further considered in the reserved matters phase.  The proposal would not significantly harm 

the outlook, amenity or privacy of residential properties nearby so there is not conflict with 

Core Policy 57 of the NPPF.   

 

The indicative layout provided is not currently in a form that could provide the basis for the 

reserved matters application.  Therefore, full consideration of the residential amenity of future 

occupiers in terms of detailed matters such as internal layouts, private amenity spaces, 

separation distances will be fully considered in the subsequent reserved matters application.  

It is not considered that a reason for refusal of an outline application on the basis of harm to 

the amenity of future occupiers could be sustained in this instance.   

 
7.5 Highway Impacts 

 
Core Policy 60 of the WCS states that the Council will use its planning and transport powers 

to help reduce the need to travel particularly by private car, and support and encourage the 

sustainable, safe and efficient movement of people and goods within and through Wiltshire. 

One of the stated ways of archiving this is by planning developments in suitable locations. 

 

It is acknowledged that the site is located outside of framework boundary for Malmesbury. 

However, the site adjoins the White Lion estate which provides several hundred residential 

dwellings in close proximity to the application site. In the determination of the previous appeal 

proposal under reference N/12/03464/OUT the Local Planning Authority concluded that the 

site was a suitable and accessible location for residential development.  Whilst the application 

site is set further east along Park Road, the site is within close proximity to existing dwellings 

to the east and south, where numerous services, such as schools could be accessed via 

sustainable means of transport.  Therefore, is it not considered that the location of the site is 

so remote from employment and services as to make it substantially worse than the adjoining 

White Lion estate and demonstrably an unsustainable location in transport terms. 

Page 50



 
Access is a matter for determination in this application.  The application is supported by a 

Transport Statement with subsequent additional information provided in technical notes and 

detailed highways plan which also includes swept paths.  The proposal includes the widening 

of Park Road to ensure the width of the carriageway would be 5.5 metres with a two metre 

wide footway provided on the southern side.  This would provide a priority access into the 

application site with a T-junction for the western part of Park Road for traffic into and out of 

Malmesbury.  The proposed highways plan shows this in detail, but the finer details would be 

subject to a highway agreement.   

 

The response from the Council’s Highways Team raises no objection to the proposed access 

in terms of highway safety and recommend conditions to be appended to any consent granted.   

It is noted that there is concern from local residents in terms of the increase in traffic in Old 

Park Road and the surrounding road network, but in the absence of an objection from the 

highways team a refusal on this basis is not sustainable.   

 
The consultation response from highways includes comments regarding detailed matters, 

including in respect of drainage of the highway and within the site and for the highway.  

However, the detailed matters regarding this issue can be controlled by suitably worded 

conditions and through determination of reserved matters applications. A reason for refusal 

on the basis of lack of technical detail when a technical solution could be provided is not 

considered to be defensible at appeal.   

 
There has been concern in relation to the impact of the proposed footway in Park Road upon 

the forecourt of a commercial property on the south side of Park Road, which extends into the 

boundary of the highway.  However, the highway boundary extends close to the front of this 

commercial property similar to the existing public footway in Park Road.  The area fronting the 

workshop site is recorded as public highway, and therefore would need to be kept free of 

obstruction and available for public use. There is a previous consent for extensions to the 

commercial property from 1990 and 1995 which restricts parking on the forecourt to no more 

than 2 vehicles but this does not necessarily override the designation of the area as a public 

highway.  It is not considered that the provision of the footway as proposed in this application 

would result in any significant harm to highway safety and no such objection is raised by the 

Council’s Highways Team.  The detailed of the proposed footway and kerbing would be 

determined in the Section 278 agreement.   

 

The Council is currently considering a further application at the adjacent site to the east under 

reference, 20/08341/OUT.  The proposed highways works for this application would allow for 

implementation without the reliance on the works that may be required at the adjacent site.  

Therefore, no concern is raised in this regard.   

 
 
7.6 Drainage / Flood Risk 
 
The proposed development site is located in Flood Risk Zone 1 with part of the site access 

contained as well as Park Road itself located within Flood Risk Zone 2 and 3, as it is in the 

valley of the River Avon.  The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment 

including a surface water drainage strategy.  The applicant has provided additional information 

in the form of an amended FRA and Drainage strategy and also includes details of a highway 

Page 51



improvement plan and updated flood risk assessment also includes annotations of attenuation 

ponds and additional information regarding the drainage works within the access and in Park 

Road.  The flood risk assessment also advises that an emergency access would be provided 

to allow access to the west in the event of a flood.  This has been assessed by the Council’s 

Drainage Team and the Environment Agency. 

 
The proposed dwellings are in  Flood Risk Zone 1 so is an acceptable zone for development 

in principle so there is no requirement to apply the sequential test in this instance.  The 

Environment Agency raise no objection to the proposed development subject to conditions 

relating to access and finished floor levels, which could be attached to any consent granted.  

The proposed dwellings would be on areas of the site outside the area of highest flood risk 

and therefore the finished floor levels are likely to be readily achieved.  In addition, the proposal 

includes the provision of an emergency access located to the west which would also need to 

be provided to allow for access in the event of a flood and again could be controlled by suitably 

worded conditions with details provided in any subsequent reserved matters phase.  This was 

an arrangement that was readily accepted by the Inspector in the consideration of the appeal 

for the previous scheme, reference 12/03464/OUT.   

 
Core Policy 67 seeks to ensure all new development includes measures to reduce the rate of 

rainwater run-off and improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground unless site or 

environmental factors make these measures unsuitable.  The NPPF at paragraph 167 requires 

all major development to incorporate SUDS unless there is clear evidence this would be 

inappropriate.  The advice also requires advice from the LLFA to be taken into account;, should 

have minimum operational standards and maintenance and where possible have multi-

functional benefits.   

 

The response from the Drainage Team raises concerns regarding the feasibility of the 

provision of the surface water drainage strategy proposed.  The applicant, in their most recent 

submission in their Flood Risk Assessment and Highway plan and revised location plan 

includes indicative attenuation ponds close to Park Road, which are at the lowest area of the 

site.  The site is unlikely to be suitable for infiltration due to the findings of their existing 

investigation relating to vulnerable ground water contaminants and poor draining due to 

existing ground water.   The flood risk assessment confirms that the attenuation will be to 

restrict surface water run off rates to greenfield run off rates and discharge via a piped 

connection into existing features, namely the ditch, which is where the site currently 

discharges.  This would mimic the existing situation and comparable flow rates downstream.  

The drainage strategy places attenuation / treatment features at one location mid-way through 

this catchment and two basins at the bottom of the catchment as this is where all the surface 

water must pass through to reach the outfall. Therefore, the drainage design aims to suit the 

natural catchments on this sloped site and if infiltration is feasible the attenuation features 

could include infiltration to ground in that event.   The proposal also includes the provision of 

underground attenuation features to deal with surface water.   

 

Therefore, there is a mix of attenuation including infiltration if feasible, attenuation ponds and 

underground tanks also within the site.   Although there is a need for additional information in 

relation to detailed technical matters as well as establishment of any improvements to the 

existing ditch network and highway works, these matters could be secured by pre-

commencement conditions.   The Drainage Team have raised concerns regarding the detailed 

Page 52



use of this method of drainage on a sloped site.  The response also raises concerns regarding 

the lack of information relating to the capacity of the ditches to be used by the development 

as well as the connectivity between ditches to ensure the outfall can be dealt with without 

increasing flood risk elsewhere.  However, this application is proposed in outline form and the 

site layout is not for determination.  It is not considered that this level of detail is necessary at 

this stage and could be secured by condition.  The previous Inspector who dealt with the 

appeal readily accepted that the details of a drainage scheme could be reserved by condition  

 

The proposed scheme would, subject to conditions enable a drainage scheme to be provided 

that would adequately deal with surface water run-off.  Although there is concern regarding 

the feasibility of the scheme from the Drainage Team based on the indicative layout proposed, 

that plan is not for approval at this stage, the development is described as “up to” 50 dwellings 

and any detailed layout and design would need to demonstrate the proposal would provide for 

appropriate drainage of the site and other technical details could be secured at the detailed 

planning stage.  Subject to this it is not considered there is conflict with Core Policy 67 or 

guidance within the NPPF.  

 

 

7.7 Trees and Ecology 

 

The application is supported by an arboricultural impact assessment that details the impacts 

upon trees and hedges within the application site and within the land owned by the applicant, 

including the Protected Trees on the northern boundary of the blue line. This does not include 

any assessment of the trees and hedges affected by the proposed Park Road widening works, 

although the existing features along Park Road are annotated on the highway improvement 

plan.   

 

The Tree Report summarises the loss of trees and hedges both that would arise in any event 

and would arise due to direct impacts of the development itself.  This includes the removal of 

U-category T2, T6 and T7 and G23 which are subject to a TPO but are in a poor state.  The 

Council’s Tree Officer does not raise any concerns regarding the proposed development, 

subject to the provision of detailed tree information at reserved matters stage.  The level of 

tree removal proposed would accord with saved Policy NE14 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 

2011 and are directly required to facilitate development or are in a poor state and would be 

lost in any event.   

 

The proposed access works would require the removal of part of the boundary hedging, H5, 

which is a mixed species hedge that has been subject to flailing in the past and formerly kept 

at a low height.  This is categorised as a Category C hedge be in close proximity to existing 

boundary hedging.  It is not considered the loss of this portion of hedging, which could be 

mitigated with additional planting could adequately mitigate the loss of trees and hedging, the 

removal of the proposed vegetation is not considered to be so harmful to justify a refusal on 

this basis.  Mitigation is capable of being secured through determination of applications at 

reserved matters stage that could appropriately address the impacts of the proposal.   

 

An Updated Ecological Appraisal (The Environmental Dimension Partnership Ltd, August 

2020 Report Reference edp1168_r007c), has been submitted to support the application this 

Page 53



includes bat and reptile surveys from 2019 and further site walkover was also undertaken in 

July 2020.  The report also includes a biodiversity impact assessment.   

 

This update report sets out the results of an updated Phase 1 habitat survey, bat activity survey 

and reptile surveys undertaken including mitigation measures. 

 

The surveys demonstrate the site supports foraging bats and a roost survey has also been 

undertaken.  These are generally limited to the more common species.  The proposals would 

preserve the boundary hedging and trees, other than the length required to be removed to 

provide the access with properties that could be set back away from site boundaries at the 

reserved matters stage.   In addition, the impacts could be further mitigated by limited lighting 

also controlled by condition.  This being the case it is not considered the proposal would 

significantly affect bats roosting and foraging within the site.  The proposed development 

would be located on a modest site area with majority of site features used by bats retained 

with additional mitigation provided on the wider land parcel.  There is also mitigation proposed 

in the form of bat boxes.  The response from Council’s Ecologist is critical of the level of survey 

undertaken in relation to bats (although further roost surveys have been undertaken since this 

concern was raised) as well as the assumption that all trees would be retained without 

consideration of the hedge removed and mitigation proposed in the wider site area outside the 

site boundary.  It should be noted that with the ability to control matters by conditions to ensure 

mitigation and enhancement no objection is raised in relation to ecology issues.  it should also 

be noted that when the Inspector assessed the impacts of the proposal in the previous appeal, 

including the impact of the access, he considered conditions could adequately deal with 

ecological management by conditions.  This being the case bats and their habitats could be 

suitably protected in accordance with Core Policy 50. 

 

The site also provides habitat suitable for reptiles and amphibians such as great crested 

newts.  Although there is a pond in the wider land parcel this is generally dry for the majority 

of the year including from April and heavily shaded by existing trees, and as such unlikely to 

provide suitable habitat for great crested newts, particularly for breeding. Mitigation measures 

include the potential for improvements to the pond on site and other proposals on the wider 

site.   

 

The reptile surveys undertaken demonstrates a good population of slow worm are present and 

grass snake also use the wider site parcel and are also present in the application site.  The 

short, semi improved grassland is not an ideal habitat for reptiles, and the only suitable habitat 

is related to hedge and scrub close to the site boundaries, the scrub is only present in the 

south eastern corner.  Therefore, the loss of a relatively short section of hedge is not 

considered to impact on the reptile population to such an extent to be significant and additional 

planting could be secured to buffer those boundaries and also additional planting in the wider 

land parcel.  The translocation of reptiles is not considered necessary and can be adequately 

dealt with by sensitive construction methods as well as mitigation in the wider land parcel.  The 

site will be subject to sensitive construction management provision of additional habitat 

creation and planting in the wider land parcel and scrub to ensure biodiversity net gain.  The 

original response from the Councils’ Ecologist raises concern regarding extent of the survey 

of the pond within the site and this further information was provided in the revised ecology 

appraisal which confirms the pond has been surveyed again to establish the presence of water 

therein.  It was found to be dry during the breeding season.     The avoidance and mitigation 

Page 54



strategy could be readily secured by conditions and legal agreement and considered in detail 

at the reserved matters stage.   

 
Breeding birds would remain within the vegetation at the site boundaries and the loss of 

vegetation is mitigated by additional planting and bird boxes.  In addition, the most recent 

appraisal also includes the provision of a biodiversity net gain calculator to demonstrate a 10% 

net gain.  Although this would be subject to additional detail to demonstrate this is the case 

which could be secured by conditions attached to any consent granted.    

 
The main concern from the Council’s Ecologist in their consultation responses is regarding the 

lack of detailed clarification of the mitigation measures and provision of mitigation outside the 

site boundary.  However, it is often the case that offsite provision is made for such measures.  

This can be secured by legal agreement to ensure the land is retained as part of the mitigation 

in the long term.  Although it would be preferable for all the detail to be provided at outline 

stage, due to the need for the reserved matters application to deal with detailed matters such 

as site layout and landscaping and the fact that the applicant has a wider land parcel that 

could be secured and retained it is not considered that a refusal on the basis of the impact 

upon biodiversity or conflict with Core Policy 50 or the guidance in paragraph 174 of the NPPF.   

 
7.8 Open Space 
 
The applicant relies upon the land in their ownership outside of the red line boundary 

application site, totalling 4.65 Ha, as open space and there are pedestrian accesses indicated 

towards the recreation ground on the indicative layout.  The Ecology Report and LVIA also 

sets aside this land for ecology mitigation and landscaping, there is also reference in the Flood 

Risk Assessment for the need for part of this land for emergency access. The proposal 

indicates there would be a multipurpose function for the wider land parcel.  

 

Saved Policy CF3 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan 2011 seeks the provision of open space 

on site and only in appropriate circumstances financial contributions towards open space 

provision elsewhere where it is appropriately located in relation to the application or if this is 

not appropriate towards upgrade of existing nearby open space.   

 

The response from the Open Space Officer advises that 50 dwellings generate a requirement 

for 2,832m² of POS including 222m² equipped play space. The response notes that the 

proposal does not include any on-site POS or play space within the red line boundary.  

However, the land in the wider land parcel could be secured in the long term via legal 

agreement to ensure it is provided and maintained for mitigation, including the open space 

required by the development proposal.  The wider land parcel is well in excess of the minimum 

space required.  This arrangement, including informal open space as well as landscaping and 

ecological mitigation was readily accepted by an Inspector during a recent appeal at Land at 

Purton Road (APP/Y3940/W/18/3202551).    It should be noted that the application is for 

consideration in outline form with all other matters other than access reserved for the 

subsequent consent where detailed proposals for this land would be further considered and 

could readily be provided at reserved matters stage.   

 
Although the proposal could provide an acceptable level of informal public open space, there 

is no provision of equipped play areas as part of the proposal.  However, the play equipment 

Page 55



is not likely to be conducive to ecological management measures in the wider site.  Therefore 

it is considered an off-site contribution is required to improve the existing play areas, either 

White Lion Recreation Ground or Newnton Grove play area, which are located within an 

acceptable walking distance to the application site.   This would require an offsite contribution 

of £31,968.   This can be secured by financial contribution in a legal agreement.  When the 

Council considered the previous application for 77 dwellings, it was accepted for that 

application that upgrade of the nearby recreation space for play equipment would be 

acceptable subject to the provision of acceptable access, which could be secured by a section 

106 agreement.   

 
7.9 Heritage 
 
The application is accompanied by a desktop Archaeological desktop assessment.  

Subsequent to the initial submission a geophysical survey or trenching has been undertaken 

to establish whether any archaeological remains are in situ. 

 

The trenching revealed no remains within the trenches dug.  This report has been submitted 

and the Council’s Archaeologist raises no objection or requirement for conditions.  The 

proposal would not affect any buried heritage assets so not conflict arises Core Policy 58 or 

the guidance in the  NPPF.   

 
 
7.10 Education 
 
The development would generate an additional need in for places for children to be educated.  

The Consultation response from the Education Team states that additional places for early 

years would be required as a result of the development, so a contribution would be required. 

Both Malmesbury Primary School and St Josephs Primary School are full.  The Backbridge 

Farm application allocated land for provision of expansion to Malmesbury Primary School 

Council.  This land is in the process of being secured for this expansion to provide for additional 

places in the long term.  In the short term, the Council is also providing additional spaces at 

Lea and Garsdon Primary School to allow for increased capacity for additional short term need 

for planned homes in Malmesbury.  Therefore, financial contributions are also required for 

primary school places.  In terms of secondary school places, Malmesbury Secondary School 

is currently full, and financial contributions are required for expansion of this school.   

 

As detailed in the MNP, Policy 12 seeks to ensure primary school expansion must be in step 

with the demand created by housing development.  The Education Team seek contributions 

towards school places it is considered that the proposed development would keep step with 

primary school places for future residents of this proposal and the need can be appropriately 

mitigated and no objection is raised regarding this issue from the Education Team.   

 
7.11 Other detailed matters  

 
The Public Protection Officer raises no objections subject to conditions regarding submission 

of an Air Quality Assessment, construction management plan and electrical charging points.  

These matters can be readily controlled by conditions.   

 

Page 56



 

7.12  S106 contributions 

Wiltshire Council has a Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document. This should 

be read in conjunctions with the WCS (primarily Core Policy 3) and the Wiltshire CIL charging 

schedule. This SPD identifies the planning obligations that will be sought by the council for 

development that generates a need for new infrastructure and should be a material 

consideration in planning applications. 

 

In addition to this, Wiltshire Council has adopted CIL. This would be calculated at Reserved 

Matters stage.  

 

The Council is also mindful of the tests for s106 legal agreements that are set out in regulation 

122 and 123 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended. The tests 

are: 

 

1. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms 

2. directly related to the development; and 

3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 

Any requests that do not meet the above tests will not be actively sought by the Council.  The 

planning obligations required to mitigate effects of the proposal are as follows: 

 

£70,088 early years places 
£206,338 primary place 
£183, 520 secondary places 
£31,968 play area equipment for nearby recreation grounds  
£91 per dwelling towards waste receptacles 
40% affordable housing provision  
Long term provision, retention and management of land in the wider land parcel to 
provide emergency access, open space, ecological mitigation 
 

The applicant has confirmed their willingness to enter into this agreement to secure the 
required mitigation measures above.   
 
8.0 Conclusion – The Planning Balance  
 
As stated above, in the determination of planning applications the first issue to consider is 

whether or not the proposal accords with the relevant provisions of the development plan (the 

WCS and MNP). If it does not then the issue arises as to whether other material 

considerations, including relevant policies in the NPPF, mean that the development can be 

regarded as sustainable and that permission should be granted despite conflict with these 

policies. Ultimately it will be up to the decision-maker to judge the particular circumstances of 

each application and how much weight should be given to conflict with policies for the supply 

of housing that are ‘out of date’ and attract reduced weight, and the NPPF guidance intended 

to boost housing land supply where the development can be judged sustainable. 

 

Importantly, paragraphs 11d and 14 of the NPPF do not make ‘out of date’ housing policies 

irrelevant to the determination of applications and the weight given to such policies is not 

Page 57



dictated by the NPPF and as noted above, will vary according to circumstances on a case by 

case basis. It is also important to consider the extent to which the land available for housing 

in Wiltshire falls short of providing for the five-year supply of housing land and the action being 

taken by the local planning authority to address the shortfall. In this regard and since the 

refusal of the last application the Council has continued to promote development in the 

housing market area at sustainable locations. Nevertheless, since the last refusal paragraph 

14 has been added to NPPF, providing clarification on weight to be assigned to 

Neighbourhood Plans when they became part of the development plan two years or less 

before the date on which the decision is made.  

 

However, the context for this application is materially different, as paragraph 14 criteria a) of 

Framework requires the Neighbourhood Plan to have become part of the development plan 

two years or less before the date on which the decision is made for its housing related policies 

to be considered up to date and for conflict with the Neighbourhood Plan to be clearly identified 

as an adverse impact that significantly and demonstrably outweighs any benefits. The MNP is 

now more than six years old and a review of the document is at a very early stage.  As a result 

the weight that can be given to it is reduced, and the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development as set out at Paragraph 11d of the Framework is engaged so that permission 

should be granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 

taken as a whole. 

 

6.1 Therefore, of key consideration are the benefits and harms associated to the development 

and the level of weight which may be attributed to them in the planning balance.  The applicant 

has highlighted the following economic, social and environmental benefits from the scheme 

as follows; 

 
 
• It will provide up to 50 new high quality homes and is available for development now – 
readily deliverable; 
• It will provide 40% affordable housing to meet local housing needs; 
• It will promote sustainable travel to deter car dependency; 
• It will deliver high quality private and public amenity space to assist in local place-making; 
• It would delivery publicly accessible open space for residents and the wider community; 
and 
• It would provide economic benefits through construction of the development and to the 
local economy through increased resident population. 
 

6.2 Officers consider the benefits and harms of the scheme below and also include the weight to 

be given to each of these benefits.   

 

Benefits of the proposal 

 

Provision of additional housing towards the supply 

6.3 The proposal would add up to 50 additional dwellings adjacent to the settlement boundary of 

the market town of Malmesbury.   The proposed development would result in additional 

dwellings in close proximity to one of the larger settlements in the hierarchy of settlements in 

Wiltshire which boasts a very good level of existing services to meet the day to day needs of 

Page 58



future occupiers by sustainable means.   In light of the lack of supply this is considered to be 

of substantial weight in the planning balance.   

 

Provision of additional affordable housing  

6.4 The provision of additional affordable housing to assist in meeting a current need that is 

currently not being met is also considered to be of substantial weight in the planning balance.   

 

Deliverability 

6.5 The site is relatively modest in scale, when considering the size of Malmesbury itself and the 

applicant confirms that the development contains no physical impediment or constraint that 

would constrain or delay delivery and conditions can be used to ensure delivery in the statutory 

period.   The applicant has confirmed their willingness to accept shorter than statutory 

timescales for implementation of the proposed development, with submission of reserved 

matters applications within one year with implementation no later than a year after approval.  

The site’s ability to contribute to the modest shortfall relatively quickly can be given substantial 

weight. 

 

Sustainable travel  

6.6 The site is located in close proximity to existing services and the proposal also includes the 

provision of a new footway and widened carriageway to enable future occupiers to walk or 

cycle to services and facilities within Malmesbury.  Malmesbury is the largest settlement in 

this community area and as such has a wide range of services to meet the needs of future 

occupiers.  The provision of a new homes in this location would be in line with the aims and 

objectives of the Core Strategy that aims to concentrate growth towards those larger 

settlements.  Moderate weight is given to this benefit.   

 

Economic Benefits 

6.7 The economic benefits are those arising from both construction and additional residents in the 

area in terms of spend and their contribution to the economy .  It is accepted that these are 

benefits of the scheme and as a medium sized development would generate some benefits.   

However, construction effects are short term and the number of houses is relatively low so 

whilst this is a factor in favour, only modest weight can be given to this benefit.    

 

Other Benefits cited by the applicant 
6.8 The benefits the applicant cites in relation to quality of design, public amenity and place 

making are not considered to be benefits of the proposal.  There are currently no details in 

relation to the quality of the scheme which is required to be secured at reserved matters phase 

and would be a requirement for all developments by national and local policy and as such is 

not considered to be a benefit and carries little weight in the planning balance.   

 

6.9 Similarly, reference to publicly accessible open space is a requirement for mitigation of the 

impacts of the proposal to serve future occupiers and therefore cannot be considered a benefit 

in this instance. There would only be very limited benefits to the wider community in relation 

to open space and plays areas.  Very limited weight is given to this as a public benefit. 

 
Harms 

 

Conflict with the development plan 

Page 59



6.10 The proposal would be in conflict with Core Policies CP1, CP2, CP13 of the Core Strategy as 

well as Saved Policy H4 of the North Wiltshire Local Plan.  It is also not an allocation site in 

the Malmesbury Neighoburhood Plan.  This being the case the proposal would conflict with 

the development plan when read as a whole and therefore, despite  these policies being out 

of date due to the lack of a five year housing land supply (or in the case of Saved Policy H4 

due to the marginal inconsistency with the NPPF) substantial weight is given to this conflict.   

 

Character, appearance and visual amenity 

6.11 The site is acceptable in terms of ecology, transport and flooding, and no other site constraints 

are identified that make this site unsuitable for development, subject to mitigation measures 

to be secured by conditions and legal agreement. The site is not designated for either its 

landscape or ecological value.  

 

6.12 As examined above, it is considered there are no site-specific harms arising from the proposal 

other than the loss of a greenfield site in agricultural use would result in some harm to the 

character and appearance of the area due to the conflict with Core Policy 51. However, as 

noted in the previous appeal for a larger scheme over a larger site area, any negative impacts 

could be mitigated as far as possible through sensitive design and landscape measures.  This 

is considered to be harm that carries moderate weight in the planning balance. 

 

Overall balance 

6.13 Given the conflict with the policies of the development plan and the lack of a five year housing 

supply, the key test is whether the adverse impacts of granting permission significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme, as is required by paragraph 11d of the 

NPPF.  

 

6.14 The latest housing land supply position shows a modest shortfall and this development, with 

its short delivery timeframe, could assist in redressing that shortfall.  In addition, there is an 

existing affordable housing need in the Malmesbury and Wiltshire which will be directly 

addressed by this development. These benefits are both given substantial weight in the 

planning balance.  There are also benefits arising from the development in terms of economic 

benefits which carry modest weight.  In addition, although it would be in conflict with the 

development plan, the site is readily accessible by sustainable means due to it being adjacent 

to a market town that has a wide range of services and this is given moderate weight.    The 

proposal would also provide publicly accessible open space which is given very limited weight 

in favour of the proposal.   

 
6.15 In terms of harm, the proposal would not accord with the development plan, which includes a 

made neighbourhood plan, and this conflict carries substantial weight in the planning balance.   

Although there is some harm identified to the character appearance and visual amenity of the 

area,  these harms are considered to be limited and localised and carry only moderate weight 

in the planning balance.   Other technical matters and mitigation regarding site specific matters 

can be mitigated they carry no weight in the planning balance.  Conditions placed upon this 

permission and Section 106 contributions ensure the scheme is fully mitigated to ensure 

infrastructure is in place to support the development.  

 

6.16 On balance, it is considered that the adverse impacts identified do not significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits that the development would provide.   

Page 60



 
Recommendation 

 
6.17 It is recommended that authority be delegated to the Head of Development Management to 

GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions listed below and completion of a Planning 

Obligation/Section 106 legal agreement covering the areas outlined below, within six months 

of the date of the resolution of this Committee. 

 

6.18 In the event that the applicant makes clear that they will not complete, sign and seal the 

required section 106 agreement within the defined timeframe to then delegate authority to the 

Area Development Manager to REFUSE planning permission for the reason set out below. 

This alternate provision to be subject to consideration of any other factors outside the control 

of the applicant and the Council that may result in unavoidable delay. If such circumstances 

are assessed by officers to arise then to allow for completion of the agreement after the 6 

month period under delegated authority:- 

 

 

1. The proposal does not provide for the delivery of the necessary infrastructure (e.g. 

affordable housing, education provision, recreation provision, open space, waste and 

recycling) required to mitigate the direct impacts of the development and fails to comply with 

Core Policy 3, 43, 50, 51, 57, 67 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy, Saved policy CF3 NWLP 

Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and paragraph 56 of 

the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6.19 Heads of Terms for Section 106 legal agreement to secure the following: 

 
- £70,088 early years places 
- £206,338 primary place 
- £183, 520 secondary places 
- £31,968 play area equipment for nearby recreation grounds  
- £91 per dwelling towards waste receptacles 
- 40% affordable housing provision 70/30 Affordable rent/shared ownership.  
- Long term retention and management of land in the wider land parcel to 

provide emergency access, open space, ecological mitigation 
 

 
 

and the following conditions: 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one year 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved 

REASON: To ensure a prompt delivery if the site to contribute towards the identified 
shortfall in housing land supply and to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 

Page 61



2 No development shall commence on site until details of the following matters (in 
respect of which approval is expressly reserved) have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority:  

(a) The scale of the development; 

(b) The layout of the development, 

(c) The external appearance of the development; 

(d) The landscaping of the site; 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

REASON: The application was made for outline planning permission and is granted to 
comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and Article 4(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (as amended). 

 

3 An application for the approval of all of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of one year from the date of this permission. 

REASON: To ensure a prompt delivery if the site to contribute towards the identified 
shortfall in housing land supply and to comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 

4 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans unless otherwise varied by details submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority in accordance with the conditions of this 
planning permission: 

Application site boundary annotated in red and blue 17021(90) 200 Rev B received 11 
February 2021 

Proposed highway improvement plan WLMalmesbury 01-P1 received 11 February 
2021 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

5 Notwithstanding the details set out in the description of development, the 

development hereby approved shall comprise no more than 50 dwellings. 

 

REASON:  The maximum number of dwellings is required to be stated in order to 

ensure the development can be provided in an acceptable manner. 

 

6 No development shall take place until full details of the proposed site levels (above 

ordnance datum), together with the finished floor slab levels of the proposed 

Page 62



buildings and structures (including roads and footpaths), in relation to existing 

ground levels have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 

authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

details. 

 

REASON: To ensure the finished levels are acceptable in the interests of visual 

amenity. 

 

7 No dwelling hereby approved shall exceed 8 metres in height as measured from 

finished floor level and shall not exceed two storeys. 

 

REASON: To ensure the finished levels and building heights are acceptable in the 

interests of visual amenity. 

 

8 The first reserved matters application shall include, a Landscape and Ecological 

Management Plan (LEMP) to be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority. The content of the LEMP shall include, but not necessarily be 

limited to, the following information: 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed; 

b) Landscape and ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence 

management; 

c) Aims and objectives of management, including long term objectives to ensure 

biodiversity net gain and management in perpetuity on land outlined in red and blue 

on boundary plan 17021(90) 200 Rev B; 

d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives as set out 

in points a)-c) above; 

e) Prescriptions for management actions for the site outlined in red and blue on plan 

17021(90) 200 Rev B 

f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 

rolled forward over a 5 year period; 

g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan; 

h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures which shall include measurable 

targets; 

i) Details of how the aims and objectives of the LEMP will be communicated to 

future occupiers of the development. 

 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which 

the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 

management body/ies responsible for its delivery.  The plan shall also set out 

(where the results from monitoring show that the conservation aims and objectives 

of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will be 

identified, agreed and implemented. A report shall be submitted to the local planning 

authority annually detailing the works undertaken and performance against the 

targets set.  

 

The LEMP shall be implemented in full in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Page 63



REASON: The matter is required to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority before development commences in order that the development is 

undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure adequate protection, mitigation and 

compensation for protected species and priority species. 

 

9 No development shall commence in the implementation of any of the works granted 

by this consent (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance 

associated with provision and improvements in Park Road) until a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include, but not necessarily 

be limited to, the following: 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities 

b) Identification of ‘biodiversity and tree protection zones’ 

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method 

statements 

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features 

e) The times during construction when specialists ecologists need to be present on 

site to oversee works 

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication 

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person(s) 

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

i) Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent person(s) 

during construction and immediately post-completion of construction works. 

 

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 

A report prepared by a competent person(s), certifying that the required mitigation 

and/or compensation measures identified in the CEMP have been completed to 

their satisfaction, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority every three 

months from the start of the development until the completion of the final planting. 

 

REASON: The matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 

before development commences in order that the development is undertaken in an 

acceptable manner, to ensure adequate protection, mitigation and compensation 

for protected species, priority species and priority habitats. 

 

10 No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site until an 

Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by an arboricultural consultant 

providing comprehensive details of construction works in relation to trees has been 

submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All works 

shall subsequently be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details. In 

particular, the method statement must provide the following: 

lition and 

construction phases for all development associated with the development hereby 

Page 64



approved including the trees and hedges in Park Road, which complies with 

BS5837:2013 and a plan indicating the alignment of the protective fencing; 

 for scaffolding and ground protection within tree protection zones  

in accordance with British Standard 5837: 2012; 

 

age of materials, 

concrete mixing and use of fires; 

 infrastructure; 

 sensitive structures  

and sections through them, including the installation of boundary treatment works, 

the method of construction of the access driveway including details of the no-dig 

specification and extent of the areas of the driveway to be constructed using a no-

dig specification; 

orks requiring arboricultural supervision to be carried out by the 

developer’s arboricultural consultant, including details of the frequency of 

supervisory visits and procedure for notifying the Local Planning Authority of the 

findings of the supervisory visits; and  

 

the site and works that form part of the development hereby approved. 

Subsequently and until the completion of all site works, site visits should be carried 

out on a monthly basis by the developer’s arboricultural consultant. A report 

detailing the results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works 

undertaken or required should then be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

Any approved remedial works shall subsequently be carried out under strict 

supervision by the arboricultural consultant following that approval. 

 

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 

be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 

agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 

that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in order that the Local 

Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to be retained on and adjacent to 

the site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure that as far 

as possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice and 

section 197 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

11 Prior to the development hereby permitted first being brought into use and as part 

of the reserved matters application a scheme for the discharge of surface water 

from the site including SuDS (sustainable drainage systems) shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Scheme details shall 

include any required off-site capacity improvements needed to allow the site/phase 

to be served, and to include a programme allowing sufficient time for the delivery of 

any required improvements. The drainage strategy must include the following 

information:  

 

•  A clearly labelled drainage layout plan showing the pipe networks and any SUDS 

features. The plan should show any pipe node numbers referred to within 

drainage calculations. 

Page 65



•  A plan showing the cross sections and design of any SUDS features and its 

components. 

•  Justification for exemption from drainage hierarchy 

•    CCTV survey of proposed connection point to the outfall point of that system  

•  Hydraulic Modelling of the system, and evidence that the proposed limited 

connection rate would not cause surcharge or capacity issues downstream 

•    Schedule of works for repairs to downstream system to ensure capacity, and/or  

upsizing of existing system to accept flows if surcharging occurs in model (and 

evidence that the upsizing will cure the issue) 

•  Evidence that the surface water drainage system is designed in accordance with 

national and local policy and guidance, specifically CIRIA C753 (The SuDS 

Manual), the Non-statutory Technical Standards for SuDS and Wiltshire 

Council’s Surface Water Soakaway Guidance; 

•  Pre and post development surface water discharge rates. 

•  Measures to prevent pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface 

waters. 

•  Calculations and drawings for the drainage system design showing designated 

holding areas and conveyance routes based on no flooding on site for a 1 in 30 

year rainfall event; 

•  Calculations and drawings for the drainage system design showing designated 

holding areas and conveyance routes based on no flooding on  site for a 1 in 100 

year plus climate change rainfall event in respect to a building (including 

basement) or utility plant susceptible to water within the development; 

•  Drawings showing conveyance routes for flows exceeding the 1 in 100 year plus 

climate change rainfall event that minimise the risk to people and property; 

•  The proposed ownership details of the drainage infrastructure; 

• The maintenance programme and ongoing maintenance responsibilities of the 

drainage infrastructure; 

•  Detailed landscaping proposals; 

•  An emergency flooding access/egress plan including details of design, materials 

and construction details of the proposed emergency route on land outlined in 

blue on plan 17021(90) 200 Rev B; 

•  Any third party agreements for discharge to their system (temporary and 

permanent). 

• The construction phasing plan. 

• Geotechnical factual and interpretive reports, including infiltration tests in 

accordance with British Research Establishment (BRE) Digest 365 – Soakaway 

Design. 

 

REASON: To comply with Core Policy 67: Flood Risk within the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy (adopted January 2015) and NPPF to ensure that the development can be 

adequately drained without increasing flood risk to others. 

 

12 The development hereby permitted must not be commenced until such time as a 

scheme to ensure the following has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the local planning authority.  

 

Page 66



1. There is no raising of ground levels within the current or future flood zones 2 

and 3, or that any raising is suitably compensated for a level for level basis; 

 

2.  Finished floor levels are set no lower than 600mm above the 1 in 100 year design 

flood level, plus and appropriate allowance for climate change,  

 

The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in 

accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements, or within any other 

period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority. 

 

 REASON:  To ensure that there are no detrimental impacts to flood storage or flood 

flow route and reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 

users. 

 

13 No part of the development shall commence until full engineering details of the 

highway improvement works to Park Road and the realignment of the carriageway 

into the development site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 

 

14 No part of the development shall be first occupied, until the visibility splays shown 

on the approved plans at the junction of Park Road with the site access road have 

been provided with no obstruction to visibility at or above a height of 900mm above 

the nearside carriageway level. The visibility splays shall always be maintained free 

of obstruction thereafter. 

 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 

 

15 No development shall commence on site until details of the estate roads, footways, 

footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service 

routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility 

splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive gradients, car parking and street 

furniture, including the timetable for provision of such works, have been submitted 

to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be first 

occupied until the estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street 

lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle 

overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway 

gradients, drive gradients, car parking and street furniture have all been constructed 

and laid out in accordance with the approved details, unless an alternative timetable 

is agreed in the approved details. 

REASON: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory 

manner. 

 

16 No development shall commence on site, until a Construction Management 

Statement, together with a site plan, which shall include the following: 

a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

Page 67



b) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 

d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 

e) wheel washing facilities; 

f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 

g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works; 

h) measures for the protection of the natural environment; 

i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 

j) pre-condition photo survey; 

k) Routing plan; 

l) Traffic Management Plan (including signage drawing(s)); 

m) Number (daily/weekly) and size of delivery vehicles; 

n) Number of contractor/staff vehicle movements; 

o) Details of temporary/permanent Traffic Regulation Orders; and 

p) Phases plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 

Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout 

the construction period. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 

than in accordance with the approved construction method statement without 

the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the 

amenities of the area in general, detriment to the natural environment through the 

risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, during the construction phase. 

 

17 No development shall commence until a Residential Travel Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No part of 

the development shall be occupied prior to the implementation of the Travel Plan. 

 

REASON: In the interests of reducing the amount of private car movements to and 

from the development. 

 

18 No development shall commence on site until a scheme of Ultra Low Energy 

Vehicle infrastructure has been submitted to the LPA. The scheme must be 

approved by the LPA prior to Implementation and thereafter be permanently 

retained. 

 

REASON: Development proposals will need to demonstrate that measures can be 

taken to effectively mitigate emission levels in order to protect public health, 

environmental quality and amenity. 

 

19 Prior to the installation of any lighting a ‘Lighting Design Strategy for Biodiversity’ 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 

strategy will cover both construction and operation phase and shall: 

 

1. Identify those features/ routes that are important to light sensitive/ nocturnal 

species such as bats, badgers and hedgehog and to be retained within dark 

Page 68



corridors. 

2. Show full details of proposed construction and operational lighting, including lux 

plots to show there is no lighting impact to the features/ routes identified. Lux plots 

should be presented on a scaled site drawing and the light levels must be shown 

at ground level and at 2m above the ground (horseshoe bats fly typically within 

this range). The light levels should also be shown as “from new”, not as normally 

calculated levels after some months or years of use. 

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 

locations set out in the strategy, and these shall be maintained thereafter in 

accordance with the strategy. Under no circumstances should any other lighting 

be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority. 

 

REASON: As required by Core Policy 50 to ensure the long-term functioning of 

wildlife corridors and Core Policy 52 the retention and green infrastructure. 

 

20 No development approved by this permission shall commence until a scheme for 

water efficiency has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The scheme demonstrate a standard of a maximum of 110 

litres per person per day is applied for all residential development. The scheme 

shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed details. 

 

REASON: This condition contributes to sustainable development and meeting the 

demands of climate change. Increased water efficiency for all new developments 

enables more growth with the same water resources. 

  

21 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping, as required 

by the reserved matters applications and details required by conditions within this 

decision notice shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season within 

or following the completion of each phase, first occupation of the building(s) or the 

completion of the development whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and 

hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from 

damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five 

years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 

replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, 

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. All hard 

landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior 

to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a 

programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and 

the protection of existing important landscape features. 

 

INFORMATIVES 

 

22 The applicant should be made area that the off-site highway works will need to be the subject 

of a Section 278 Agreement with the Highway Authority to secure the approval of the works to 

the highway. The design of the access arrangement will also need to be the subject of a Safety 

Audit. 

Page 69



 

23 The off-site Highway Works would include the following:- 

• The widening of the Park Road carriageway to 5.5m from the Park Close junction and 

extending into the development, together with the provision of a 2m wide footway 

adjoining the south-western side of the carriageway, and associated drainage and 

ancillary works. 

• The realignment of the north-western section of Park Road to provide a priority junction 

with the new access road. 

• Amendments to speed limit, subject to a Traffic Regulation Order. 

 

 

 
 

Page 70



Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 19/05898/OUT: Land off Park Road, Malmesbury, SN16 0QW
	19.05898.OUT - Location Plan


